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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1: Financial Statements

SONUS NETWORKS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share data)

  

June 30,
2004

 

December 31,
2003

 

  

(unaudited)

   
Assets  

Current assets:        
 Cash and cash equivalents  $ 126,235 $ 133,715 
 Marketable securities   152,141  171,677 
 Accounts receivable, net   31,910  23,754 
 Inventory, net   20,201  13,739 
 Other current assets   14,559  6,935 
    
  Total current assets   345,046  349,820 
Property and equipment, net   6,399  5,009 
Purchased intangible assets, net   1,202  2,402 
Other assets   865  1,193 
Long-term investments   25,266  — 
    
  $ 378,778 $ 358,424 
    

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity  
Current liabilities:        
 Accounts payable  $ 8,626 $ 3,248 
 Accrued expenses   22,044  22,165 
 Accrued restructuring expenses   199  565 
 Current portion of deferred revenue   62,864  62,698 
 Current portion of long-term liabilities   101  182 
    
  Total current liabilities   93,834  88,858 

Long-term deferred revenue, less current portion   30,142  24,302 
Long-term liabilities, less current portion   708  829 
Convertible subordinated note   10,000  10,000 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)        
Stockholders' equity:        
 Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding   —  — 

 

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 600,000,000 shares authorized, 248,056,841 and
247,146,477 shares issued and 245,759,931 and 244,849,567 shares outstanding at June
30, 2004 and December 31, 2003   248  247 

 Capital in excess of par value   1,044,866  1,043,581 
 Accumulated deficit   (800,614)  (808,562)
 Deferred compensation   (139)  (564)

 
Treasury stock, at cost; 2,296,910 common shares at June 30, 2004 and December 31,
2003   (267)  (267)

    
  Total stockholders' equity   244,094  234,435 
    
  $ 378,778 $ 358,424 
    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SONUS NETWORKS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(In thousands, except per share data)

(unaudited)

  

Three months ended
June 30,

 

Six months ended
June 30,

 

  

2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

 

    

as restated

   

as restated

 
Revenues:              
 Product  $ 30,587 $ 8,255 $ 56,832 $ 11,772 
 Service   11,774  7,111  22,061  12,803 
      
  Total revenues   42,361  15,366  78,893  24,575 
      
Cost of revenues (1):              
 Product   9,714  3,896  17,855  5,434 
 Service   4,227  3,369  8,486  5,924 
      
  Total cost of revenues   13,941  7,265  26,341  11,358 
      
Gross profit   28,420  8,101  52,552  13,217 
      
Operating expenses:              
 Research and development (1)   8,923  8,504  17,851  16,209 
 Sales and marketing (1)   8,635  4,476  15,495  8,447 
 General and administrative (1)   5,745  1,456  10,572  3,295 
 Stock-based compensation   136  645  515  1,569 
 Amortization of purchased intangible assets   600  602  1,200  1,204 
      
  Total operating expenses   24,039  15,683  45,633  30,724 
      
Income (loss) from operations   4,381  (7,582)  6,919  (17,507)
Interest expense   (121)  (148)  (243)  (278)
Interest income   891  461  1,656  842 
      
Income (loss) before income taxes   5,151  (7,269)  8,332  (16,943)
Provision for income taxes   217  32  384  65 
      
Net income (loss)  $ 4,934 $ (7,301) $ 7,948 $ (17,008)
      
Net income (loss) per share:              
 Basic  $ 0.02 $ (0.03) $ 0.03 $ (0.08)
      

 Diluted  $ 0.02 $ (0.03) $ 0.03 $ (0.08)
      

Shares used in computing net income (loss) per share:              
 Basic   245,390  215,970  244,906  207,483 
      

 Diluted   250,127  215,970  253,480  207,483 
      

 
(1) Excludes non-cash, stock-based compensation expense as follows:  

Cost of revenues  $ 6 $ 10 $ 10 $ 22 
Research and development   52  252  162  629 
Sales and marketing   52  274  263  679 
General and administrative   26  109  80  239 
      
  $ 136 $ 645 $ 515 $ 1,569 
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SONUS NETWORKS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

(unaudited)

  

Six months ended
June 30,

 

  

2004

 

2003

 

    

as restated

 
Cash flows from operating activities:        
 Net income (loss)  $ 7,948 $ (17,008)

 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:        

  Depreciation   2,903  5,465 
  Stock-based compensation   515  1,569 
  Amortization of purchased intangible assets   1,200  1,204 
  Changes in current assets and liabilities:        
   Accounts receivable   (8,156)  (6,382)
   Inventory   (6,462)  (4,957)
   Other current assets   (7,624)  (3,636)
   Accounts payable   5,378  302 
   Accrued expenses   (578)  (2,764)
   Deferred revenue   6,006  15,412 
    
    Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities   1,130  (10,795)
    
Cash flows from investing activities:        
 Purchases of property and equipment   (4,293)  (1,659)
 Maturities of marketable securities   31,285  19,682 
 Purchases of marketable securities   (11,749)  (4,697)
 Purchases of long-term investments   (25,266)  — 
 Other assets   328  136 
    
    Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities   (9,695)  13,462 
    
Cash flows from financing activities:        
 Net proceeds from sale of common stock to public   —  56,730 
 Sale of common stock in connection with employee stock purchase plan   796  447 
 Proceeds from exercise of stock options   400  503 
 Payments of long-term liabilities   (111)  (847)
 Repurchase of common stock   —  (5)
    
    Net cash provided by financing activities   1,085  56,828 
    
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (7,480)  59,495 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   133,715  57,278 
    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 126,235 $ 116,773 
    
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:        
 Cash paid during the period for interest  $ 243 $ 278 
    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SONUS NETWORKS, INC. 

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

(unaudited) 

(1)   Description of Business

        Sonus Networks, Inc. (Sonus) was incorporated on August 7, 1997 and is a leading provider of packet voice infrastructure solutions for wireline and wireless
service providers. Sonus offers a new generation of carrier-class switching equipment and software that enable telecommunications service providers to deliver
voice services over packet-based networks.

(2)   Restatement of Consolidated Financial Statements

        As reported in Sonus' 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K/A filed with the SEC on July 28, 2004, Sonus has restated its consolidated financial statements for
the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the nine months ended September 30, 2003. The restated financial statements include a number of adjustments,
the largest of which relate to revenue, deferred revenue, inventory reserves, purchase accounting, impairments, accrued expenses and stock-based compensation.

        Sonus anticipates amending its previously filed quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for each of the first three quarters of 2003 for the purpose of restating its
consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of 2003 and 2002. The restated consolidated financial statements in these amended quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q will include significant adjustments. Sonus does not anticipate amending its previously filed annual reports on Form 10-K or its quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q for any periods prior to 2003. The consolidated financial statements and related consolidated financial information contained in previously filed
reports, including for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and for the quarterly reports during 2002 and the first three quarters of 2003, should no longer
be relied upon.

        The following condensed consolidated statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2003, on a comparative basis, summarizes the
effects of the restatement adjustments on various line items of Sonus' statement of operations.

Condensed Statements of Operations
As Reported and As Restated

(In thousands, except per share data)

  

Three Months Ended June 30, 2003

 

  

As Reported

 

Adjustments

 

As Restated

 
Revenues  $ 21,356 $ (5,990) $ 15,366 
Cost of revenues   8,793  (1,528)  7,265 
     
Gross profit   12,563  (4,462)  8,101 
Operating expenses   16,086  (403)  15,683 
     
Loss from operations   (3,523)  (4,059)  (7,582)
Interest income, net   313  —  313 
     
Loss before income taxes   (3,210)  (4,059)  (7,269)
Provision for income taxes   —  32  32 
     
Net loss  $ (3,210) $ (4,091) $ (7,301)
     
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.01) $ (0.02) $ (0.03)
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2003

 

  

As Reported

 

Adjustments

 

As Restated

 
Revenues  $ 37,375 $ (12,800) $ 24,575 
Cost of revenues   14,223  (2,865)  11,358 
     
Gross profit   23,152  (9,935)  13,217 
Operating expenses   31,307  (583)  30,724 
     
Loss from operations   (8,155)  (9,352)  (17,507)
Interest income, net   564  —  564 
     
Loss before income taxes   (7,591)  (9,352)  (16,943)
Provision for income taxes   —  65  65 
     
Net loss  $ (7,591) $ (9,417) $ (17,008)
     
Basic and diluted net loss per share  $ (0.04) $ (0.04) $ (0.08)
     

(3)   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

        The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the application of certain significant accounting policies as described in this note and
elsewhere in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements and notes.

(a) Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

        The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared by Sonus and reflect all adjustments, consisting only of
normal recurring adjustments that in the opinion of management are necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim periods. The unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), and omit or
condense certain information and footnote disclosures pursuant to existing SEC rules and regulations. Results for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative
of results to be expected for any other interim period or for the entire fiscal year. These statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in Sonus' Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003 filed with the SEC.

        The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Sonus and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated.

(b) Use of Estimates and Judgments

        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant estimates relied upon in preparing these financial statements include
revenue recognition for multiple element arrangements, allowances for doubtful accounts, estimated fair value of investments, including whether any decline in
such fair value is other-than-temporary, expected future cash flows used to evaluate the recoverability of long-lived assets, estimated fair values of long-lived
assets used to record impairment
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charges related to intangible assets and goodwill, restructuring and other related charges, contingencies associated with revenue contracts, contingent liabilities,
and recoverability of Sonus' net deferred tax assets and related valuation allowance. Although Sonus regularly assesses these estimates, actual results could differ
materially from these estimates. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they become known. Sonus bases its estimates on historical experience
and various other assumptions that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from Sonus' estimates if past experience or
other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate.

(c) Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

        Cash equivalents are stated at cost plus accrued interest, which approximates market value, and have maturities of three months or less at the date of
purchase.

        Marketable securities are classified as held-to-maturity, as Sonus has the intent and ability to hold to maturity. Marketable securities are reported at
amortized cost. Cash equivalents and marketable securities are invested in high-quality credit instruments, primarily U.S. Government obligations. There have
been no material gains or losses to date.

(d) Concentrations of Credit and Off-Balance Sheet Risk, Significant Customers and Limited Suppliers

        The financial instruments that potentially subject Sonus to concentrations of credit risk are cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable
and long-term investments. Sonus has no off-balance sheet concentrations such as foreign exchange contracts, options contracts or other foreign hedging
arrangements. Sonus' cash and cash equivalent holdings are diversified among four financial institutions.

        For the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, three customers each contributed 10% or more of Sonus' revenues, representing an aggregate of 48%
and 55% of total revenues, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, four and three customers each contributed more than 10% of Sonus'
revenues, representing an aggregate of 55% and 49% of total revenues, respectively. The following customers contributed 10% or more of Sonus' revenues in the
three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003:

 

 

Three months ended June
30,

 

Six months ended June
30,  

Customer:
 

 
2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

 
Verizon Global Networks  *% 22% 15% 14%
Softbank Broadband  * * 14 * 
AT&T Wireless Services  24 — 14 — 
Qwest Communications  14 * 12 * 
Nissho Electronics Corporation  * 16 * 14 
Global Crossing  * 17 * 21 
Volo Communications  10 — * — 

* Less than 10%.

        As of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, one and four customers each accounted for more than 10% of Sonus' accounts receivable balance, representing
an aggregate of 31% and 68% of total accounts receivable. Sonus performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not
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require collateral on accounts receivable. Sonus maintains allowances for potential credit losses and such losses have been within management's expectations.

        International revenues, primarily from Asia and Europe, were 13% and 31% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. International
revenues, primarily from Asia and Europe, were 20% and 29% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003.

        Certain components and software licenses from third parties used in Sonus' products are procured from single sources of supply. The failure of a supplier,
including a subcontractor, to deliver on schedule could delay or interrupt Sonus' delivery of products and thereby materially adversely affect Sonus' revenues and
operating results.

(e) Accounts Receivable

        Accounts receivable consist of the following, in thousands:

  

June 30,
2004

 

December 31,
2003

 
Earned accounts receivable  $ 16,189 $ 11,326 
Unearned accounts receivable   16,163  12,713 
    
Accounts receivable, gross   32,352  24,039 
Allowance for doubtful accounts   (442)  (285)
    
Accounts receivable, net  $ 31,910 $ 23,754 
    

        Unearned accounts receivable represent products shipped to customers where Sonus has a contractual right to bill the customer and collectibility is probable
prior to satisfying Sonus' revenue recognition criteria. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on Sonus' detailed assessment of the collectibility of specific
customer accounts.

(f) Inventory

        Inventory consists of the following, in thousands:

  

June 30,
2004

 

December 31,
2003

 
On-hand final assemblies and finished goods inventory  $ 14,504 $ 11,366 
Unearned inventory   12,031  10,173 
Evaluation inventory   6,341  6,014 
    
Inventory, gross   32,876  27,553 
Excess, obsolete and evaluation reserve   (12,675)  (13,814)
    
Inventory, net  $ 20,201 $ 13,739 
    

        Unearned inventory represents deferred cost of revenues prior to satisfaction of Sonus' revenue recognition criteria.

        Sonus provides for inventory obsolescence reserves based on excess and obsolete inventories determined primarily by future demand forecasts and records
changes to such reserves through
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adjustments to cost of revenues. Sonus records a full inventory reserve for evaluation equipment at the time of shipment to its customers as a charge to sales and
marketing expense.

(g) Property and Equipment

        Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the related assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser of the life of the lease or five years. When an item is sold or retired, the cost and related accumulated depreciation is
relieved, and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognized in the statement of operations.

(h) Purchased Intangible Assets

        Purchased intangible assets of $1,202,000 as of June 30, 2004 and $2,402,000 as of December 31, 2003 are carried at cost less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is computed over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Sonus expects that the remaining amount of purchased intangible assets will be
fully amortized by December 2004.

(i) Other Assets

        Other assets are deposits for leased facilities.

(j) Deferred Revenue

        Deferred revenue consists of the following, in thousands:

  

June 30,
2004

 

December 31,
2003

 
Maintenance and support contracts  $ 48,270 $ 39,104 
Customer deposits   28,573  35,183 
Unearned revenue   16,163  12,713 
    
Total deferred revenue   93,006  87,000 
Less current portion   (62,864)  (62,698)
    
  $ 30,142 $ 24,302 
    

        Maintenance and support contracts are recognized ratably over the life of the service contract. Customer deposits represent payments received in advance of
revenue recognition. Unearned revenue represents billings for which payment has not been received and revenue recognition criteria have not been met.

(k) Revenue Recognition

        Sonus recognizes revenue from product sales when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixed or
determinable and collectibility of the related receivable is probable, unless Sonus has future obligations, including a requirement to deliver additional elements
which are essential to the functionality of the delivered elements or for which vendor specific objective evidence of fair value (VSOE) does not exist or customer
acceptance is required, in which case the
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revenues and related costs are deferred until those obligations are satisfied or contingencies are resolved.

        Many of Sonus' sales are generated from complex contractual arrangements, which require significant revenue recognition judgments, particularly in the
case of multiple element arrangements. When a sale involves multiple elements, such as products, maintenance or professional services, Sonus allocates the entire
sales price to each respective element based on VSOE or using the residual method when VSOE cannot be established for one of the delivered elements in the
arrangement. Sonus then recognizes revenue on each element in accordance with its policies for product and service revenue recognition. Sonus determines
VSOE based upon the price charged when the same element is sold separately. If Sonus cannot establish VSOE for each undelivered element, it defers the entire
contract revenues until the earlier of the establishment of VSOE or delivery of the undelivered element.

        In addition, if an arrangement with a customer includes a specified upgrade right for which VSOE cannot be established, Sonus defers all revenue related to
the arrangement until the earlier of the delivery of the specified upgrade or the establishment of VSOE for the specified upgrade. In determining whether a
specified upgrade right exists, Sonus has concluded that if the specified upgrade is included in the customer contract or otherwise becomes part of the
arrangement with the customer, then a specified upgrade right exists. Sonus has concluded that communications with customers in the normal course of business
regarding customer feature requests and Sonus' product plans do not create specified upgrade rights.

        Maintenance and support services are recognized ratably over the life of the maintenance and support service period, which typically is one year when the
services are sold separately and up to five years when the fees for the services are bundled with the product fees. Maintenance and support services include
telephone support and unspecified rights to product upgrades and enhancements. These services are typically sold for a one-year term and either are sold as part
of a multiple element arrangement with products or are sold independently at time of renewal. Maintenance and support VSOE represents a consistent percentage
of the sales prices charged to customers. The application of judgment could affect the continued determination of maintenance VSOE and Sonus' ability to
recognize revenue using the residual method.

        Installation service revenues are typically recognized at the time of the related product revenue recognition as installation is typically complete by the time of
product revenue recognition. Professional services are recognized as the services are performed.

        Sonus sells the majority of its products directly to end-users. For products sold through resellers and distributors, Sonus recognizes revenue on a sell-through
method utilizing information provided to Sonus from its resellers and distributors.

        Product shipped to customers and related services where amounts, prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria, are (1) billed pursuant to a contractual
right and collection is probable, or (2) collected, are reflected as deferred revenues. Deferred revenues also include customer deposits and amounts associated
with maintenance contracts, which are recognized on a straight-line basis over the related service periods, and free or discounted products and services not yet
provided to customers. Deferred revenues not expected to be recognized within one year of the balance sheet date are classified as long-term deferred revenues.
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        Sonus defers any incremental direct costs, such as inventory, royalties, commissions and third-party installation costs, incurred prior to satisfaction of its
revenue recognition criteria and records them in proportion to revenue recognized.

(l) Software Development Costs

        Sonus accounts for its software development costs in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 86, Accounting for the Costs
of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed. Accordingly, the costs for the development of new software and substantial enhancements to
existing software are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been established, at which time any additional costs would be capitalized. Sonus has
determined that technological feasibility is established at the time a working model of the software is completed. Because Sonus believes its current process for
developing software is essentially completed concurrently with the establishment of technological feasibility, no costs have been capitalized to date. See Note 3(s)
for a discussion of Sonus' warranty reserve policy.

(m) Stock-based Compensation

        In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. SFAS No. 123
provides that companies may account for stock-based compensation under either the fair value-based method of accounting under SFAS No. 123 or the intrinsic
value-based method provided by Accounting Principles Board (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Sonus uses the intrinsic value-based
method of APB No. 25 to account for all of its employee stock-based compensation plans and uses the fair value method of SFAS No. 123 to account for all non-
employee stock-based compensation. Sonus follows FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 28, Accounting for Stock Appreciation Rights and Other Variable Stock
Option or Award Plans and amortizes the intrinsic value for all awards as measured under APB No. 25 on an accelerated basis. SFAS No. 123, as amended by
SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123, requires companies
following APB No. 25 to make pro forma disclosure in the notes to the financial statements using the measurement provisions of SFAS No. 123.

        Sonus has computed the pro forma disclosures required under SFAS No. 123 for stock options granted to employees and shares purchased under the 2000
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) using the Black Scholes option-pricing model. In valuing the stock options granted, Sonus used an assumed risk-free
interest rate of 3% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003; volatility of 128% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, and
137% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2003; and an expected life of four to five years for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and
2003, respectively with the assumption that dividends will not be paid. In valuing the ESPP, Sonus used an assumed risk-free interest rate of 1-3% for both the
three and six months ended June 30, 2004, and of 1-5% for both the three and six months ended June 30, 2003; volatility of 26-164% for both the three and six
months ended June 30, 2004, and 137-150% for
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both the three and six months ended June 30, 2003; and an expected life ranging from six months to two years, with the assumption that dividends will not be
paid. The pro forma information is as follows:

  

Three months ended
June 30,

 

Six months ended
June 30,

 

  

2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

 

    

as restated

   

as restated

 
Net income (loss)—              
 As reported  $ 4,934 $ (7,301) $ 7,948 $ (17,008)

 
Plus: Employee stock-based compensation expense included in net
income (loss) under intrinsic value method related to options   123  538  465  1,355 

 Less: Employee stock-based compensation under fair value method   (11,363)  (9,647)  (23,033)  (19,397)
      
 Pro forma  $ (6,306) $ (16,410) $ (14,620) $ (35,050)
      
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share—              
 As reported (basic and diluted)  $ 0.02 $ (0.03) $ 0.03 $ (0.08)
 Pro forma   (0.03)  (0.08)  (0.06)  (0.17)

(n) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

        Sonus applies SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income. The comprehensive net income (loss) for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and
2003 does not differ from the reported net income (loss).

(o) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

        The carrying amounts of Sonus' financial instruments, which include cash equivalents, marketable securities, long-term investments, accounts payable, long-
term liabilities and the convertible subordinated note, approximate their fair value.

(p) Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise

        SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, established standards for reporting information regarding operating
segments and established standards for related disclosures about products and services and geographic areas. Operating segments are identified as components of
an enterprise about which separate discrete financial information is available for evaluation by the chief operating decision maker in making decisions regarding
resource allocation and assessing performance. To date, the chief operating decision maker has made such decisions and assessed performance at the company
level.
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(q) Net Income (Loss) Per Share

        Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the weighted average number of shares of unrestricted
common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) for the period by the weighted
average number of shares of unrestricted common stock and dilutive potential common shares outstanding based on the average market price of Sonus' common
stock (under the treasury stock method). Dilutive potential common shares consist of restricted common stock and common stock issuable upon the exercise of
stock options and conversion of a convertible subordinated note.

        The following table sets forth the computation of shares used in calculating the net income (loss) per share, in thousands:

  

Three months ended
June 30,

 

Six months ended
June 30,

  

2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

Weighted average common shares outstanding  245,759 220,640 245,610 212,845
Less weighted average restricted common shares outstanding  369 4,670 704 5,362
     
Shares used in basic per share calculation  245,390 215,970 244,906 207,483
Add effect of dilutive potential common shares  4,737 — 8,574 —
     
Shares used in dilutive per share calculation  250,127 215,970 253,480 207,483
     

        Excluded from the shares used in the calculations above are options to purchase shares of common stock and shares of common stock issuable upon
conversion of a convertible subordinated note representing an aggregate of 4,092,197 shares for the three months ended June 30, 2004; 3,432,090 shares for the
six months ended June 30, 2004; and 29,748,620 shares for the three and six months ended June 30, 2003, as their effects would have been anti-dilutive.

(r) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. (FIN) 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its
obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the
fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of the interpretation are applicable on a
prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002 and the disclosure requirements in this interpretation are effective for financial
statements of interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. The FIN 45 disclosure requirements are included in Note 5. The adoption of FIN 45 did
not have a material impact on Sonus' financial position or results of operations.

        In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities and, in December 2003, issued a revision to that interpretation. FIN
46R replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities that possess certain characteristics. A variable interest entity
(VIE) is defined as (a) an ownership, contractual or monetary interest in an entity where the ability to influence financial decisions is not proportional to the
investment interest, or
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(b) an entity lacking the invested capital sufficient to fund future activities without the support of a third party. FIN 46R establishes standards for determining
under what circumstances VIEs should be consolidated with their primary beneficiary, including those to which the usual condition for consolidation does not
apply. Sonus currently does not have any variable interest entities.

        In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting For Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity, which
establishes standards for how an issuer of financial instruments classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and
equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances) because that
financial instrument embodies an obligation of the issuer. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and
otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have any impact on Sonus'
overall financial position or results of operations.

        In August 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-05, Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Non-Software Deliverables in an
Arrangement Containing More-Than-Incidental Software. EITF Issue No. 03-05 addresses the applicability of SOP 97-2 to non-software deliverables in an
arrangement containing more-than-incidental software. In an arrangement that includes software that is more-than-incidental to the products or services as a
whole, software and software-related elements are included within the scope of SOP 97-2. Software-related elements include software products and services, as
well as any non-software deliverables for which a software deliverable is essential to its functionality. The adoption of this statement did not have a material
impact on Sonus' consolidated financial statements.

        In December 2003, the staff of the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, Revenue Recognition, which supersedes SAB No. 101, Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements. SAB No. 104's primary purpose is to rescind the accounting guidance contained in SAB No. 101 related to multiple-element
revenue arrangements that was superseded as a result of the issuance of EITF Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.
Additionally, SAB No. 104 rescinds the SEC's related Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements Frequently Asked Questions and Answers issued with SAB
No. 101 that had been codified in SEC Topic 13, Revenue Recognition. While the wording of SAB No. 104 has changed to reflect the issuance of EITF 00-21, the
revenue recognition principles of SAB No. 101 remain largely unchanged by the issuance of SAB No. 104, which was effective upon issuance. Sonus adopted the
provisions of SAB No. 104 in the fourth quarter of 2003. Sonus' adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a material effect on its financial position or results of
operations.

(s) Warranty Reserve

        Sonus' products are covered by a standard warranty of 90 days for software and one year for hardware. In addition, certain customer contracts include
warranty-type provisions for epidemic or similar product failures generally for the contractual period or the life of the product in accordance with published
telecommunications standards. Sonus' customers typically purchase maintenance and support contracts, which encompass Sonus' warranty obligations. Sonus
accrues for such contingent obligations when the occurrence of such obligation is probable and the amount of such obligation is reasonably estimable. Sonus has
not incurred significant costs related to such provisions. Sonus' warranty reserve reflects estimated material and labor costs for potential or actual product issues
in its
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installed base that are not covered under Sonus' maintenance contracts but for which Sonus expects to incur an obligation. Sonus' estimates of anticipated rates of
warranty claims and costs are primarily based on historical information and future forecasts.

        In addition, certain of Sonus' customer contracts include provisions under which Sonus may be obligated to pay penalties generally for the contractual period
or for the life of the product if its products fail or do not perform in accordance with specifications. Sonus accrues for such contingent obligations when the
occurrence of such obligation is probable and the amount of such obligation is reasonably estimable. Historically, Sonus has not incurred significant costs related
to such provisions. Sonus periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranty liabilities and adjusts the amounts as necessary. While Sonus believes its
warranty reserve is adequate to address known warranty issues, an increase in product failures rates, material usage or service delivery costs may result in an
increase to Sonus' warranty reserve and its gross profit could be adversely affected.

(4)   Restructuring Charges

        Commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2001 and extending through fiscal 2002, in response to unfavorable business conditions primarily caused by
significant declines in capital spending by telecommunications service providers, Sonus implemented restructuring plans designed to reduce expenses and align
its cost structure with its revised business outlook. The restructuring plans included worldwide workforce reductions, consolidation of excess facilities and the
write-off of excess inventory and purchase commitments.

2002 Restructuring Accrual

        The following table summarizes the activity during the six months ended June 30, 2004 relating to Sonus' accrual for fiscal 2002 restructuring actions, in
thousands:

  

Dec. 31,
2003

Accrual
Balance

 

Cash
Payments

 

June 30,
2004

Accrual
Balance

 

Current
Portion

 

Long-term
Portion

Consolidation of facilities  $ 1,143 $ (236) $ 907 $ 199 $ 708
Write-off of purchase commitments   40  (40)  —  —  —
      
Total  $ 1,183 $ (276) $ 907 $ 199 $ 708
      

        The remaining cash expenditures relating to the consolidation of excess facilities are expected to be paid through 2008.

2001 Restructuring Accrual

        The following table summarizes the activity during the six months ended June 30, 2004 relating to Sonus' accrual for fiscal 2001 restructuring actions, in
thousands:

  

Dec. 31,
2003

Accrual
Balance

 

Cash
Payments

 

June 30,
2004

Accrual
Balance

Consolidation of facilities and other charges  $ 181 $ (181) $ —
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(5)   Warranty Reserve

        The following table summarizes the activity related to product warranty reserve, included in accrued expenses, during the six months ended June 30, 2004, in
thousands:

Balance at December 31, 2003  $ 2,500 
 Charges to costs and expenses   102 
 Deductions   (518)
   
Balance at June 30, 2004  $ 2,084 
   

(6)   Long-term Liabilities

        Long-term liabilities consist of capital leases and restructuring expenses (Note 4). Sonus assumed certain capital leases as part of the acquisition of telecom
technologies, inc. (TTI). The capital leases are due in monthly installments expiring at various dates through March 2005 and accrue interest at annual rates
ranging from 5.9% to 9.2%. The future minimum annual payments under capital leases and amounts due for long-term liabilities, as of June 30, 2004, are as
follows, in thousands:

Capital Leases:     
2004 obligations (six months)  $ 73 
2005 obligations   30 
   
Total minimum lease payments   103 
Less amount representing interest   (2)
   
Present value of minimum payments   101 
Long-term portion of restructuring expenses   708 
   
Total long-term liabilities   809 
Less current portion   (101)
   
Total long-term liabilities  $ 708 
   

        The future principal payments on long-term liabilities, excluding the capital leases, as of June 30, 2004 are $96,000 in 2005; $195,000 in 2006; $204,000 in
2007; and $213,000 in 2008.

(7)   Convertible Subordinated Note

        In May 2001, Sonus completed a private placement of an aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000 of 4.75% convertible subordinated notes, due May 1,
2006, with a customer. Interest payments are due semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year through May 2006. The notes may be converted by the
holder into shares of Sonus' common stock at any time before their maturity or prior to their redemption or repurchase by Sonus. The conversion rate is 33.314
shares per each $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. As of May 1, 2004, Sonus has the option to redeem all or a
portion of the notes at 100% of the principal amount. Also, at any time if the market price of Sonus' common stock exceeds $60.04 per share for twenty trading
days in any thirty trading-day period, Sonus may redeem these notes through the issuance of shares of common stock or for cash. In the event of a change of
control in Sonus, the holder at its option may require Sonus to redeem the notes through the issuance of common stock or cash. Interest expense

15



related to Sonus' convertible subordinated notes was $119,000 for both the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, and $238,000 for both the six months
ended June 30, 2004 and 2003.

(8)   Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Leases

        Sonus leases its facilities under operating leases, which expire through December 2008. Sonus is responsible for certain real estate taxes, utilities and
maintenance costs under these leases. The future minimum payments under operating lease arrangements as of June 30, 2004 are as follows: $586,000 in 2004
(six months); $1,068,000 in 2005; $876,000 in 2006; $261,000 in 2007; and $213,000 in 2008.

(b) Pending Litigation

        In November 2001, a purchaser of Sonus' common stock filed a complaint in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against Sonus,
two of its officers and the lead underwriters alleging violations of the federal securities laws in connection with Sonus' initial public offering (IPO) and seeking
unspecified monetary damages. The purchaser seeks to represent a class of persons who purchased Sonus' common stock between the IPO on May 24, 2000 and
December 6, 2000. An amended complaint was filed in April 2002. The amended complaint alleges that Sonus' registration statement contained false or
misleading information or omitted to state material facts concerning the alleged receipt of undisclosed compensation by the underwriters and the existence of
undisclosed arrangements between underwriters and certain purchasers to make additional purchases in the after market. The claims against Sonus are asserted
under Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and against the individual defendants under Sections 11
and 15 of the Securities Act. Other plaintiffs have filed substantially similar class action cases against approximately 300 other publicly traded companies and
their IPO underwriters which, along with the actions against Sonus, have been transferred to a single federal judge for purposes of coordinated case management.
On July 15, 2002, Sonus, together with the other issuers named as defendants in these coordinated proceedings, filed a collective motion to dismiss the
consolidated amended complaints on various legal grounds common to all or most of the issuer defendants. The plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the claims against
the individual defendants, including those Sonus officers named in the complaint. On February 19, 2003, the court granted a portion of the motion to dismiss by
dismissing the Section 10(b) claims against certain defendants including Sonus, but denied the remainder of the motion as to the defendants. Accordingly, the
case proceeded against Sonus on the Section 11 claims. In June 2003, a special committee of Sonus' Board of Directors authorized Sonus to enter into a proposed
settlement with the plaintiffs on terms substantially consistent with the terms of a Memorandum of Understanding negotiated among representatives of the
plaintiffs, the issuer defendants and the insurers for the issuer defendants. The settlement contemplated by the Memorandum of Understanding is subject to a
number of conditions including approval by the court. It remains uncertain whether and when the conditions will be met and the settlement will become final.
Sonus does not expect that the settlement contemplated by the Memorandum of Understanding would have a material impact on Sonus' business or financial
results.

        Beginning in July 2002, several purchasers of Sonus' common stock filed complaints in federal district court for the District of Massachusetts against Sonus,
certain officers and directors and a former officer under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Class Action
Complaints). The purchasers seek to represent a class of persons who purchased Sonus'
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common stock between December 11, 2000 and January 16, 2002, and seek unspecified monetary damages. The Class Action Complaints were essentially
identical and alleged that Sonus made false and misleading statements about its products and business. On March 3, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a Consolidated
Amended Complaint. On April 22, 2003, Sonus filed a motion to dismiss the Consolidated Amended Complaint on various grounds. On May 11, 2004, the court
held oral argument on the motion, at the conclusion of which the court denied Sonus' motion to dismiss. The plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification on
July 30, 2004, and Sonus' opposition is due on September 10, 2004. Sonus believes the claims in the Consolidated Amended Complaint are without merit and that
it has substantial legal and factual defenses, which it intends to pursue vigorously. There is no assurance Sonus will prevail in defending these actions.

        Beginning in February 2004, a number of purported shareholder class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts against Sonus and certain of its current officers and directors. The complaints assert claims under the federal securities laws, specifically Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to Sonus' announcement that it had identified issues, practices and actions of certain employees
relating to both the timing of revenue recognized from certain customer transactions and other financial statement accounts, which could affect its 2003 financial
statement accounts and possibly financial statements for prior periods. Specifically, these actions allege that Sonus issued a series of false or misleading
statements to the market during the class period that failed to disclose that (i) Sonus had materially overstated its revenue by improperly recognizing revenue on
certain customer contracts; (ii) Sonus lacked adequate internal controls and was therefore unable to ascertain its true financial condition; and (iii) as a result of the
foregoing, Sonus' financial statements issued during the class period were materially false and misleading. Plaintiffs contend that such statements caused Sonus'
stock price to be artificially inflated. The complaints seek unspecified damages on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of Sonus' common stock during the
period from April 9, 2003, June 3, 2003 or June 5, 2003 through February 11, 2004. On June 28, 2004, the court consolidated the claims. On August 10, 2004 the
court appointed the lead plaintiff and selected the lead counsel and ordered the lead plaintiff to file a consolidated amended complaint by October 12, 2004. Sonus
believes that it has substantial legal and factual defenses to the claims, which it intends to pursue vigorously. There is no assurance Sonus will prevail in
defending these actions.

        In February 2004, three purported shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts against
Sonus and certain of its officers and directors, naming Sonus as a nominal defendant. Also in February 2004, two purported shareholder derivative lawsuits were
filed in the business litigation session of the superior court of Suffolk County of Massachusetts against Sonus and certain of its directors and officers, also naming
Sonus as a nominal defendant. The suits claim that certain of Sonus' officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to Sonus' stockholders and to the
company. The complaints are derivative in nature and do not seek relief from Sonus. However, Sonus has entered into indemnification agreements in the ordinary
course of business with certain of the defendant officers and directors and may be obligated throughout the pendency of these actions to advance payment of legal
fees and costs incurred by the defendants pursuant to Sonus' obligations under the indemnification agreements and/or applicable Delaware law. Sonus filed a
motion to dismiss the state court cases and a motion to stay the federal actions pending the outcome of the motion to dismiss in state court. On June 11, 2004, the
state court held oral argument on the motion and took the matter under advisement. On June 28, 2004, the federal court consolidated the three actions and stayed
the case pending ruling by the state court on the motion to
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dismiss. On August 10, 2004, the federal court selected lead counsel in the consolidated action and ordered that a consolidated amended complaint be filed by
October 12, 2004. Sonus believes that it has substantial legal and factual defenses to the claims, which it intends to pursue vigorously. There is no assurance
Sonus will prevail in defending these actions.

        In June 2004, Sonus received a formal order of private investigation from the SEC. Sonus is cooperating with the investigation. There can be no assurance as
to the outcome of the SEC investigation. Sonus may incur substantial costs in connection with the investigation including fines and significant legal expenses.

        Sonus has been contacted by third parties, who claim that Sonus' products infringe on certain intellectual property of the third party. Sonus evaluates these
claims and accrues for royalties when the amounts are probable and reasonably estimable. While Sonus believes that the amounts accrued for estimated royalties
are adequate, the amounts required to ultimately settle royalty obligations may be different.

(9)   Stockholders' Equity

(a) Public Offerings

        In September 2003, Sonus completed a public offering of 17,000,000 shares of its common stock at $7.75 per share, resulting in net proceeds of
$126,088,000 after deducting offering costs of $5,662,000.

        In April 2003, Sonus completed a public offering of 20,000,000 shares of its common stock at $3.05 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $56,730,000 after
deducting offering costs of $4,270,000.

(b) 1997 Stock Incentive Plan

        On January 1 of each year, the aggregate number of shares of common stock available for issuance under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (Plan) shall increase
by the lesser of (i) 5% of the outstanding shares on December 31 of the preceding year or (ii) an amount determined by the Board of Directors. As of June 30,
2004, 122,854,120 shares were authorized and 43,737,985 shares were available under the Plan for future issuance.

        On October 16, 2002, Sonus commenced an offer to exchange (Exchange Offer) outstanding employee stock options granted under the Plan having an
exercise price of $0.67 or more per share for new stock options to be granted by Sonus. Outstanding options granted under the TTI Amended and Restated 1998
Equity Incentive Plan were not eligible for exchange. Also, Sonus' directors, executive officers and non-employees were not eligible to participate in the
exchange. On November 22, 2002, the Exchange Offer expired. Outstanding options to purchase approximately 8,973,000 shares of common stock were accepted
for exchange and cancelled. On May 27, 2003, employees received an option to purchase one share of common stock for each share of common stock under the
exchanged options. The new options were granted at an exercise price of $4.08 per share, which represented the fair market value of Sonus' common stock on the
date of grant.

(c) 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

        On January 1 of each year, the aggregate number of shares of common stock available for purchase under the ESPP shall increase by the lesser of (i) 2% of
the outstanding shares on December 31 of the preceding year or (ii) an amount determined by the Board of Directors. As of
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June 30, 2004, 20,341,626 shares were authorized and 16,361,646 shares were available under the ESPP for future issuance.

(d) Stock-based Compensation

        Stock-based compensation expenses include the amortization of deferred employee compensation and other equity related expenses.

        In connection with certain employee stock option grants including grants related to the TTI acquisition and the issuance of employee-restricted common
stock between 1999 and 2001, Sonus recorded deferred stock-based compensation. This represents the aggregate difference between the exercise price or
purchase price and the fair value of the common stock on the date of grant or sale for accounting purposes. The deferred compensation is recognized as an
expense over the vesting period of the underlying stock options and restricted common stock based on the accelerated method prescribed by FIN 28.

        Sonus recorded stock-based compensation of $136,000 and $645,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 and $515,000 and $1,569,000 for
the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. As of June 30, 2004, Sonus expects to record approximately $139,000 in employee stock-based compensation
expense for the remainder of fiscal 2004.
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Item 2: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

        This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to a
number of risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations, assumptions, estimates and projections about our
industry and ourselves, and we do not undertake an obligation to update our forward-looking statements to reflect future events or circumstances. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including the factors set forth in
"Cautionary Statements" in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements and related notes for the periods specified. Further reference should be made to our Annual Report on Form 10-K/A for the year ended
December 31, 2003 on file with the SEC.

Overview

        We are a leading supplier of packet voice infrastructure solutions for wireline and wireless service providers. Our products are a new generation of carrier-
class switching equipment and software that enable voice services to be delivered over packet-based networks.

        We began shipping product to customers during the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999 and recorded our first revenues of $51.8 million in fiscal 2000 and revenues
of $128.8 million in fiscal 2001, $93.9 million in fiscal 2002 and $93.2 million in fiscal 2003. Significant declines in capital spending by telecommunications
service providers, and financial difficulties, including in some cases bankruptcies, experienced by certain emerging service providers, including some of our
customers, caused the reduction in our revenues in 2002. In response to the unfavorable economic conditions, commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2001 and
continuing through fiscal 2002, we implemented restructuring plans designed to reduce expenses and align our cost structure with our revised business outlook.
The restructuring plans included worldwide workforce reductions, consolidation of excess facilities and the write-off of excess inventory and purchase
commitments. In 2003, the challenging business environment in the telecommunications industry continued to affect the spending by service providers for
products such as those we offer.

        In the second half of 2003 and continuing through the first half of 2004, there has been a trend towards increased interest and activity in the market for
packet-based voice infrastructure products. While it remains uncertain as to the speed and extent of the adoption of carrier packet voice infrastructure products by
large carriers, we believe that over time the market opportunity for packet voice solutions is substantial. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2004,
revenues were $42.4 million and $78.9 million, and total deferred revenues were $93.0 million as of June 30, 2004 reflecting continuing improvements in the
market for packet-based voice infrastructure products.

        We sell our products primarily through a direct sales force and, in some markets, through resellers and distributors. Customers' decisions to purchase our
products to deploy in commercial networks involve a significant commitment of resources and a lengthy evaluation, testing and product qualification process. We
believe our revenues and results of operations may vary significantly and unexpectedly from quarter to quarter as a result of long sales cycles, our expectation that
customers will tend to sporadically place large orders with short lead times and the application of complex revenue recognition rules to certain transactions. We
expect to recognize revenues from a limited number of customers for the foreseeable future.

        Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses and, as of June 30, 2004, had an accumulated deficit of $800.6 million. Although we achieved
quarterly profits in each of the first and second quarters of fiscal 2004, we have not achieved profitability on an annual basis and may incur additional net losses
in future quarters and years. We have a lengthy sales cycle for our products and, accordingly, we expect to incur sales and other expenses before we realize the
related revenues. We expect to continue to incur significant sales and marketing, research and development and general and
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administrative expenses and, as a result, we will need to generate significant revenues to maintain profitability.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

        Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements and related disclosures
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
disclosures. Management bases its estimates and judgments on historical experience, market trends and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. On an on-going basis, we re-evaluate our estimates for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these estimates could occur in
the future if past experience or other assumptions do not turn out to be substantially accurate. Changes in estimates are recorded in the period in which they
become known.

        A summary of those accounting policies, significant judgments and estimates that we believe are most critical to fully understanding and evaluating our
financial results is set forth below. This summary should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related
notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report.

        Revenue Recognition.    We recognize revenues from product sales when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the sales price
is fixed or determinable and collectibility of the related receivable is probable, unless we have future obligations, including a requirement to deliver additional
elements which are essential to the functionality of the delivered elements or for which vendor specific objective evidence of fair value (VSOE) does not exist or
customer acceptance is required, in which case the revenues and related costs are deferred until those obligations are satisfied or contingencies are resolved.

        Many of our sales are generated from complex contractual arrangements, which require significant revenue recognition judgments, particularly in the case of
multiple element arrangements. When a sale involves multiple elements, such as products, maintenance or professional services, we allocate the entire sales price
to each respective element based on VSOE or using the residual method when VSOE cannot be established for one of the delivered elements in the arrangement.
We then recognize revenues on each element in accordance with our policies for product and service revenue recognition. We determine VSOE based upon the
price charged when the same element is sold separately. If we cannot establish VSOE for each undelivered element, we defer the entire contract revenues until the
earlier of the establishment of VSOE or delivery of the undelivered element, which may result in significant variation in our revenues and operating results from
quarter to quarter.

        In addition, if an arrangement with a customer includes a specified upgrade right for which VSOE cannot be established, we defer all revenue related to the
arrangement until the earlier of the delivery of the specified upgrade or the establishment of VSOE for the specified upgrade. In determining whether a specified
upgrade right exists, we have concluded that if the specified upgrade is included in the customer contract or otherwise becomes part of the arrangement with the
customer, then a specified upgrade right exists. We have concluded that communications with customers in the normal course of business regarding customer
feature requests and our product plans do not create specified upgrade rights.

        Maintenance and support services are recognized ratably over the life of the maintenance and support service period, which typically is one year when the
services are sold separately and up to five years when the fees for the services are bundled with the product fees. Maintenance and support services include
telephone support and unspecified rights to product upgrades and enhancements. These services are typically sold for a one-year term and either are sold as part
of a multiple element
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arrangement with products or are sold independently at time of renewal. Maintenance and support VSOE represents a consistent percentage of the sales prices
charged to customers. The application of judgment could affect the continued determination of maintenance VSOE and our ability to recognize revenue using the
residual method.

        Installation service revenues are typically recognized at the time of the related product revenue recognition as installation is typically complete by the time of
product revenue recognition. Professional services are recognized as the services are performed.

        We sell the majority of our products directly to end-users. For products sold through resellers and distributors we recognize revenues on a sell-through
method utilizing information provided to us from our resellers and distributors.

        Product shipped to customers and related services where amounts, prior to satisfying the revenue recognition criteria, are (1) billed pursuant to a contractual
right and collection is probable, or (2) collected, are reflected as deferred revenues. Deferred revenues also include customer deposits and amounts associated
with maintenance contracts, which are recognized on a straight-line basis over the related service periods, and free or discounted products and services not yet
provided to customers. Deferred revenues not expected to be recognized within one year of the balance sheet date are classified as long-term deferred revenues.

        We defer any incremental direct costs, such as inventory, royalties, commissions and third-party installation costs, incurred prior to satisfaction of revenue
recognition criteria and record them in proportion to revenue recognized.

        Loss Contingencies.    We are subject to ongoing business risks that affect the estimation process of the carrying value of assets, the recording of liabilities
and the possibility of various loss contingencies, arising in the ordinary course of business. Under SFAS No. 5, an estimated loss contingency is accrued when it
is probable that a liability has been incurred or an asset has been impaired and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. We regularly evaluate current
information available to us to determine whether such amounts should be adjusted. Based on our analysis, we have established the following allowance and
reserves:

        Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.    We establish billing terms at the time we negotiate purchase agreements with our customers. We continually
monitor timely payments and assess any collection issues. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on our detailed assessment of the collectibility of
specific customer accounts. While we believe that our allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate and that the judgment applied is appropriate, if there is
a deterioration of a customer's creditworthiness or actual defaults are higher than our historical experience, the actual results could differ from these
estimates. While such credit losses have historically been within our expectations and the allowances we established, we cannot guarantee that we will
continue to experience the same credit loss rates that we have in the past. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payment, additional allowances may be required. Our failure to accurately estimate the losses for doubtful accounts
and ensure that payments are received on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

        Inventory Reserves.    Inventory purchases and commitments are based upon estimated future demand for our products. We value inventory at the
lower of cost or net realizable value and provide inventory reserves based on excess and obsolete inventory determined primarily by future demand
forecasts and record changes to such reserves through adjustments to cost of revenues. We assess such demand forecasts on at least a quarterly basis. If we
record a charge to reduce inventory to its estimated net realizable value, we cannot increase its carrying value due to subsequent changes in demand
forecasts. Accordingly, if inventory previously written down to its
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net realizable value is subsequently sold, we may realize improved gross profit margins on those transactions.

        We also record a full inventory reserve for evaluation equipment at the time of shipment to our customers as a charge to sales and marketing expense
as our experience with this type of inventory indicates it is probable that the inventory will not be realizable. If these evaluation shipments should convert
to revenue, we record a benefit to sales and marketing expenses and record the full cost of revenues in the period of revenue recognition.

        We have experienced significant changes in our product demand and, as a result, our required inventory reserves have fluctuated in recent periods. It
is possible that significant changes in required inventory reserves may continue to occur in the future if there is a sudden and significant change in the
demand for our products, changes in the amount of customer evaluation inventory or higher risks of inventory obsolescence because of rapidly changing
technology.

        Warranty Reserve.    Our products are covered by a standard warranty of 90 days for software and one year for hardware. In addition, certain
customer contracts include warranty-type provisions for epidemic or similar product failures generally for the contractual period or the life of the product
in accordance with published telecommunications standards. Our customers typically purchase maintenance and support contracts, which encompass our
warranty obligations. We accrue for such contingent obligations when the occurrence of such obligation is probable and the amount of such obligation is
reasonably estimable. We have not incurred significant costs related to such provisions. Our warranty reserve reflects estimated material and labor costs
for potential or actual product issues in our installed base that are not covered under our maintenance contracts but for which we expect to incur an
obligation. Our estimates of anticipated rates of warranty claims and costs are primarily based on historical information and future forecasts.

        In addition, certain of our customer contracts include provisions under which we may be obligated to pay penalties generally for the contractual
period or for the life of the product if our products fail or do not perform in accordance with specifications. We accrue for such contingent obligations
when the occurrence of such obligation is probable and the amount of such obligation is reasonably estimable. We have not incurred significant costs
related to such provisions. We periodically assess the adequacy of our recorded warranty liabilities and adjust the amounts as necessary. While we believe
our warranty reserve is adequate to address known warranty issues, an increase in product failures rates, material usage or service delivery costs may
result in an increase to our warranty reserve and our gross profit could be adversely affected.

        Royalty Accrual.    We accrue for royalty-related technology we license from vendors based on established royalty rates and usage. In certain cases,
we have been contacted by third parties, who claim that our products infringe on certain intellectual property of the third party. We evaluate these claims
and accrue for royalties when the amounts are probable and reasonably estimable. While we believe that the amounts accrued for estimated royalties are
adequate, the amounts required to ultimately settle royalty obligations may be different.

        Reserve for Litigation and Legal Fees.    We are subject to various legal claims, including securities litigation and intellectual property claims. We
reserve for legal contingencies and legal fees when the amounts are probable and reasonably estimable. Our director and officer liability insurance policies
provide only limited liability protection relating to the securities class action and derivative lawsuits against us and certain of our officers and directors.
We intend to defend these matters vigorously, although the ultimate outcome of these items is uncertain and the potential loss, if any, may be significantly
higher or lower than the amounts we have previously accrued.

        Accounting for Income Taxes.    SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, requires the establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood
of realization of deferred tax assets.

23



Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance
recorded against our net deferred tax assets. We evaluate all available evidence, such as recent and expected future operating results by tax jurisdiction, and
current and enacted tax legislation and other temporary differences between book and tax accounting, to determine whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.

        As a result of net operating losses incurred in the past in most jurisdictions in which we operate, and uncertainty as to the extent, jurisdiction and timing of
profitability in future periods, we have continued to record a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets. The establishment and amount of the valuation
allowance requires significant estimates and judgment and can materially affect our results of operations. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is
considered more likely than not, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such determination was made. Our effective tax
rate may vary from period to period based on changes in estimated taxable income or loss in each jurisdiction, changes to the valuation allowance, changes to
federal, state or foreign tax laws, future expansion into areas with varying country, state, and local income tax rates, deductibility of certain costs and expenses by
jurisdiction and as a result of acquisitions.

Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2004 and 2003

        Revenues.    Revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 were as follows, in thousands:

  

Three months ended
June 30,

 

Six months ended
June 30,

  

2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

    

As restated

   

As restated

Revenues:             
 Product  $ 30,587 $ 8,255 $ 56,832 $ 11,772
 Service   11,774  7,111  22,061  12,803
     
  Total revenues  $ 42,361 $ 15,366 $ 78,893 $ 24,575
     

        Product revenues comprise sales of our voice infrastructure products, including our GSX9000™ Open Services Switch, Insignus™ Softswitch, Sonus
Insight™ Management System and related product offerings. Product revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 increased 271% and 383% from
the comparable periods in fiscal 2003. The higher revenues were the result of an increase in the sale of our voice infrastructure products to telecommunications
service providers and a deferral of revenues attributable to a significant customer transaction from the first three quarters of 2003 until the final delivery of
software in the fourth quarter of 2003.

        Service revenues primarily comprise hardware and software maintenance, network design, installation and other professional services. Service revenues for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 increased 66% and 72% from the comparable periods in fiscal 2003. The increase in service revenues were
primarily due to an increase in maintenance revenues as a result of our growing installed customer base and maintenance revenues for a particular customer that
had been deferred from prior quarters pending recognition of related product revenues which occurred in the second quarter of 2004.

        For the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, three customers each contributed 10% or more of our revenues, representing an aggregate of 48% and
55% of total revenues. For the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, four and three customers each contributed more than 10% of our
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revenues, representing an aggregate of 55% and 49% of total revenues. The following customers contributed 10% or more of our revenues in the three and six
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003:

 

 

Three months ended June
30,

 

Six months ended June
30,  

Customer:
 

 
2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

 
Verizon Global Networks  *% 22% 15% 14%
Softbank Broadband  * * 14 * 
AT&T Wireless Services  24 — 14 — 
Qwest Communications  14 * 12 * 
Nissho Electronics Corporation  * 16 * 14 
Global Crossing  * 17 * 21 
Volo Communications  10 — * — 

* Less than 10%.

        International revenues, primarily from Asia and Europe, were 13% and 31% of revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. International
revenues, primarily from Asia and Europe, were 20% and 29% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003.

        Cost of Revenues/Gross Profit.    Cost of revenues consists primarily of amounts paid to third-party manufacturers for purchased materials and services,
manufacturing and professional services personnel and related costs and inventory obsolescence. Cost of revenues and gross profit as a percentage of revenues for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 were as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

  

Three months ended June 30,

 

Six months ended June 30,

 

  

2004

 

2003

 

2004

 

2003

 
Cost of revenues:              
 Product  $ 9,714 $ 3,896 $ 17,855 $ 5,434 
 Service   4,227  3,369  8,486  5,924 
      
  Total cost of revenues  $ 13,941 $ 7,265 $ 26,341 $ 11,358 
      
Gross profit (% of respective revenues):              
 Product   68%  53%  69%  54%
 Service   64  53  62  54 
  Total gross profit   67%  53%  67%  54%
      

        The increases in product gross profit as a percentage of product revenues were primarily due to a greater proportion of revenues from higher margin products
as well as the benefit resulting from the sale of inventory previously written down of $854,000 and, to a lesser extent, a reduction in purchased component costs.
We expect our product mix, and related gross margins, to return to levels consistent with our long-term financial model of 58–62%. The increases in service gross
profit as a percentage of service revenues were primarily due to the higher volume of service revenues and a greater mix of higher margin professional and
installation services. Our service cost of revenues is relatively fixed in advance of any particular quarter.

        Our gross profit as a percentage of total revenues in a particular quarter is highly variable due to many factors such as our revenue volume. Gross profit may
also be affected by the following factors: demand for our products and services; new product introductions and enhancements both by us and by our competitors;
product service and support costs associated with initial deployment of our products in customers' networks; changes in our pricing policies and those of our
competitors; write-off of any
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excess or obsolete inventory; unfavorable warranty experience; the mix of product configurations sold; geographic mix; the mix of sales channels through which
our products and services are sold; the timing of revenue recognition, the subsequent sales of inventory previously reserved as excess and obsolete; and the
volume of manufacturing and costs of manufacturing and components.

        Research and Development Expenses.    Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs and prototype costs
related to the design, development, testing and enhancement of our products. Research and development expenses were $8.9 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2004, an increase of $419,000, or 5%, from $8.5 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. Research and development expenses were $17.9 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2004, an increase of $1.7 million, or 10%, from $16.2 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. These increases primarily reflect
an increase in salaries and related expenses associated with increased headcount, partially offset by a reduction in depreciation expense associated with fully
depreciated assets. Some aspects of our research and development efforts require significant short-term expenditures, the timing of which can cause significant
variability in our expenses. We believe that rapid technological innovation is critical to our long-term success and we intend to continue to make substantial
investments to enhance our products and technologies to meet the requirements of our customers and market. We believe that our research and development
expenses for the third quarter of fiscal 2004 will increase from the second quarter of fiscal 2004 primarily as a result of an increase in salary and related expenses
associated with increased headcount.

        Sales and Marketing Expenses.    Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs, commissions, travel and
entertainment expenses, promotions, customer evaluations inventory and other marketing and sales support expenses. Sales and marketing expenses were
$8.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004, an increase of $4.1 million, or 93%, from $4.5 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. Sales and
marketing expenses were $15.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, an increase of $7.1 million, or 83%, from $8.4 million for the same period in
fiscal 2003. These increases are due primarily to increases in salaries associated with increased headcount, increases in commission due to higher revenues,
increased levels of inventory provided to customers for evaluation and charged to expense and higher marketing expenditures for trade shows. We believe that our
sales and marketing expenses for the third quarter of fiscal 2004 will increase modestly from the second quarter of fiscal 2004 primarily as a result of higher
personnel related costs, including commissions, partially offset by lower trade show costs.

        General and Administrative Expenses.    General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related personnel costs for executive and
administrative personnel, recruiting expenses, allowance for doubtful accounts and professional fees. General and administrative expenses were $5.7 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2004, an increase of $4.2 million, or 295%, from $1.5 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. General and administrative
expenses were $10.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, an increase of $7.3 million, or 221%, from $3.3 million for the same period in fiscal 2003.
These increases primarily reflect the professional fees incurred as part of our investigation, audit and internal control improvement process, an increase in
directors and officers insurance costs and, to a lesser extent, increases in salaries and related expenses associated with increased headcount, partially offset by
reductions in depreciation expense due to fully depreciated assets and to a foreign currency transaction gain. Each of the next three quarters will include
$1.7 million in director and officer liability insurance expense paid for in the second quarter of fiscal 2004. We believe that our general and administrative
expenses for the third quarter of fiscal 2004 will remain consistent with the second quarter of fiscal 2004 due to costs associated with improvements we are
making in our internal control environment to remedy material weaknesses and to meet the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and
costs associated with an increase in the renewal premium for our directors and officers insurance, partially offset by lower expenditures
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for professional fees related to the SEC investigation, although such costs will continue to be significant.

        Stock-based Compensation Expenses.    Stock-based compensation expenses include the amortization of stock compensation charges resulting from the
granting of stock options, including those TTI stock options assumed by us, stock awards to TTI employees under the 2000 Retention Plan and the sales of
restricted common stock. Stock-based compensation expenses were $136,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2004, a decrease of $509,000, or 79%, from
$645,000 for the same period in fiscal 2003. Stock-based compensation expenses were $515,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2004, a decrease of
$1.1 million, or 67%, from $1.6 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. The decreases are primarily due to lowered deferred compensation balances resulting
from our policy of accelerating amortization of deferred compensation under FIN 28. As of June 30, 2004, we expect to record approximately $139,000 in
employee stock-based compensation expense for the remainder of fiscal 2004.

        On October 16, 2002, we commenced an offer to exchange outstanding employee stock options for new stock options to be granted on a date that was at
least six months and one day from the expiration date of the exchange offer. The exchange offer expired on November 22, 2002, and outstanding options to
purchase approximately 8,973,000 shares of common stock were accepted for exchange and cancelled. On May 27, 2003, employees received an option to
purchase one share of common stock for each share of common stock under the exchanged options at an exercise price of $4.08 per share, representing the fair
market value of our common stock on the date of grant.

        Amortization of Purchased Intangible Assets.    In fiscal 2001, we acquired certain intellectual property and other intangible assets, as well as in-process
research and development in connection with our acquisitions of TTI and Linguateq. Amortization of purchased intangible assets was $600,000 for the three
months ended June 30, 2004 as compared to $602,000 for the same period in fiscal 2003. Amortization of purchased intangible assets was approximately
$1.2 million for both the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003.

        Interest Income, net.    Interest income consists of interest earned on our cash balances, marketable securities and long-term investments. Interest expense
consists of interest incurred on a convertible subordinated note, equipment bank debt and capital lease arrangements. Interest income, net of interest expense, was
$770,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2004, as compared to $313,000 for the same period in fiscal 2003. Interest income, net of interest expense, was
$1.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, as compared to $564,000 for the same period in fiscal 2003. These increases primarily reflect an increase in
our cash and investment balances resulting from the proceeds from our public offerings of common stock in April and September of 2003.

        Income Taxes.    Provisions for income taxes in the amounts of $217,000 and $384,000 have been recorded for the three and six months ended June 30,
2004, which are primarily attributable to foreign income taxes and state minimum income taxes in the U.S.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

        We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes
in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

        At June 30, 2004, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and long-term investments that totaled
$303.6 million. In September 2003, we completed a public offering of 17,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $7.75 per share resulting in net
proceeds of $126.1 million after deducting offering costs of $5.7 million. In April 2003, we completed a public offering of 20,000,000 shares of our common
stock at a price of $3.05 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $56.7 million after deducting offering costs of $4.3 million.
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        Our operating activities provided net cash of $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, as compared to net cash used in operating activities of
$10.8 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. The increase in cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to our improved results of operations and
an increase in our accounts payable and deferred revenues as of June 30, 2004, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable, inventory and other current
assets. The increase in other current assets includes the renewal premium for our directors and officers liability insurance in June 2004 in the amount of
$6.8 million.

        Net cash used in investing activities was $9.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, as compared to net cash provided by investing activities of
$13.5 million for the same period in fiscal 2003. Net cash used in investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2004 primarily reflects net purchases of
marketable securities and long-term investments of $5.7 million and capital expenditures of $4.3 million. Net cash provided by investing activities for the six
months ended June 30, 2003 primarily reflects net maturities of marketable securities of $15.0 million, offset by capital expenditures of $1.7 million. We have no
current material commitments for capital expenditures but do expect to incur approximately $7.0 to $10.0 million in capital expenditures during the next twelve
months.

        Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, as compared to $56.8 million for the same period in fiscal
2003. The net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2004 primarily resulted from the sale of common stock in connection with
our employee stock purchase plan and proceeds from exercise of stock options, partially offset by payments on our long-term obligations. The net cash provided
by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2003 primarily resulted from the sale of common stock in connection with our public offering of
20,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $3.05 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $56.7 million after deducting offering costs of $4.3 million.

        The following summarizes our future contractual obligations as of June 30, 2004, in thousands:

  

Payment Due by Period

Contractual Obligations
 

Total

 

Less than
1 year

 

1-3 years

 

3-5 years

Long-term debt obligations  $ 10,950 $ 475 $ 10,475 $ —
Capital lease obligations   103  103  —  —
Operating lease obligations   3,004  1,138  1,549  317
     
Total  $ 14,057 $ 1,716 $ 12,024 $ 317
     

        Based on our past performance and current expectations, we believe our current cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be sufficient to meet
our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least 12 months. Although it is difficult to predict future liquidity requirements with
certainty, including changes in working capital, the rate at which we will consume cash will be dependent on the cash needs of future operations which will, in
turn, be directly affected by the levels of demand for our products, the timing and rate of expansion of our business, the resources we devote to developing our
products and any litigation settlements or SEC fines. We anticipate devoting substantial capital resources to continue our research and development efforts, to
maintain our sales, support and marketing, and for other general corporate activities, as well as to vigorously defend against existing and potential investigations
and litigation and resolve pending or potential investigations relating to the restatement of our consolidated financial statements. See "Part II—Item 1. Legal
Proceedings."

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

        In November 2002, the FASB issued FIN 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of
Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 elaborates on the
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disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and annual financial statements about its obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also
clarifies that a guarantor is required to recognize, at the inception of a guarantee, a liability for the fair value of the obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.
The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions of the interpretation are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after
December 31, 2002 and the disclosure requirements in this interpretation are effective for financial statements of interim or annual periods ending after
December 15, 2002. The FIN 45 disclosure requirements are included in Note 5 to our condensed consolidated unaudited financial statements. The adoption of
FIN 45 did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations.

        In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities and, in December 2003, issued a revision to that interpretation (FIN
46R). FIN 46R replaces FIN 46 and addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities that possess certain characteristics. A variable
interest entity (VIE) is defined as (a) an ownership, contractual or monetary interest in an entity where the ability to influence financial decisions is not
proportional to the investment interest, or (b) an entity lacking the invested capital sufficient to fund future activities without the support of a third party. FIN 46R
establishes standards for determining under what circumstances VIEs should be consolidated with their primary beneficiary, including those to which the usual
condition for consolidation does not apply. We currently do not have any variable interest entities.

        In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting For Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity, which
establishes standards for how an issuer of financial instruments classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and
equity. SFAS No. 150 requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances) because that
financial instrument embodies an obligation of the issuer. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and
otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have any impact on our
overall financial position or results of operations.

        In August 2003, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 03-05, Applicability of AICPA Statement of Position 97-2 to Non-Software Deliverables in an
Arrangement Containing More-Than-Incidental Software. EITF Issue No. 03-05 addresses the applicability of SOP 97-2 to non-software deliverables in an
arrangement containing more-than-incidental software. In an arrangement that includes software that is more-than-incidental to the products or services as a
whole, software and software-related elements are included within the scope of SOP 97-2. Software-related elements include software products and services, as
well as any non-software deliverables for which a software deliverable is essential to its functionality. The adoption of this statement did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

        In December 2003, the staff of the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 104, Revenue Recognition, which supersedes SAB No. 101, Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements. SAB No. 104's primary purpose is to rescind the accounting guidance contained in SAB No. 101 related to multiple-element
revenue arrangements that was superseded as a result of the issuance of EITF Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.
Additionally, SAB No. 104 rescinds the SEC's related Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements Frequently Asked Questions and Answers issued with SAB
No. 101 that had been codified in SEC Topic 13, Revenue Recognition. While the wording of SAB No. 104 has changed to reflect the issuance of EITF 00-21, the
revenue recognition principles of SAB No. 101 remain largely unchanged by the issuance of SAB No. 104, which was effective upon issuance. We adopted the
provisions of SAB No. 104 in the fourth quarter of 2003. Our adoption of SAB No. 104 did not have a material effect on our financial position or results of
operations.
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Cautionary Statements

        This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve
risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a number of factors,
including those set forth in the following cautionary statements and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. If any of the following risks were to occur,
our business, financial condition or results of operations would likely suffer and the trading price of our common stock would likely decline.

Our common stock was delisted from the NASDAQ National Market and transferred to the National Quotation Service Bureau ("Pink Sheets"), which may,
among other things, reduce the price of our common stock and the levels of liquidity available to our stockholders.

        Effective August 13, 2004, shares of our common stock were delisted from the NASDAQ National Market as a result of our not being then current on our
SEC filings and they are trading on the Pink Sheets. The trading of our common stock shares on the Pink Sheets may reduce the per share price of our common
stock and the levels of liquidity available to our stockholders. In addition, the trading of our common stock shares on the Pink Sheets will materially adversely
affect our access to the capital markets, and the limited liquidity and reduced price per share of our common stock could materially adversely affect our ability to
raise capital through alternative financing sources on either terms acceptable to us or at all. Stocks that trade on the Pink Sheets are no longer eligible for margin
loans, and a company trading on the Pink Sheets cannot avail itself of federal preemption of state securities or "blue sky" laws, which adds substantial compliance
costs to securities issuances, including pursuant to employee option plans, stock purchase plans and private or public offerings of securities. Our delisting from
the NASDAQ National Market and transfer to the Pink Sheets may also result in other negative implications, including the potential loss of confidence by
suppliers, customers and employees, the loss of institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities. Although we plan to submit an
application to re-list our common stock on the NASDAQ National Market as promptly as practicable after we file this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, there can
be no assurance as to when, if at all, NASDAQ will re-list our common stock.

We face several adverse consequences as a result of our late SEC filings.

        If our common stock is re-listed on the NASDAQ National Market, we must timely file all periodic reports with the SEC and NASDAQ for all reporting
periods ending on or before June 30, 2005 to avoid another delisting. Until we become current, and if we are unable to remain current in our financial filings, we
will not be able to have a registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, covering a public offering of securities, declared effective by the SEC, and we
will not be able to make offerings pursuant to existing registration statements (including registration statements on Form S-8 covering employee stock plans), or
pursuant to certain "private placement" rules of the SEC under Regulation D, to any purchasers not qualifying as "accredited investors." In addition, our affiliates
will not be able to sell our securities pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act. Finally, we will not be eligible to use a "short form" registration statement on
Form S-3 for a period of 12 months after the time we become current in our filings. These restrictions may impair our ability to raise funds in the public markets
should we desire to do so, and to attract and retain key employees.

We have identified material weaknesses in our controls and procedures, which, if not remedied effectively, could seriously harm our business.

        Management and our independent auditors have concluded that our controls and procedures had material weaknesses as of June 30, 2004. We have
commenced the design and implementation of new and enhanced controls and procedures to address those material weaknesses. Our inability to remedy such
material weaknesses promptly and effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business,
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results of operations and financial condition, as well as impair our ability to meet our quarterly and annual reporting requirements in a timely manner. While we
are completing the design and implementation of our controls environment, there remains risk that the transitional controls on which we currently rely will fail to
be sufficiently effective, which could result in a material misstatement of our financial position or results of operations. In addition, even if we are successful in
strengthening our controls and procedures, such controls and procedures may not be adequate to prevent or identify irregularities or facilitate the fair presentation
of our financial statements or SEC reporting.

Failure or circumvention of our controls and procedures could seriously harm our business.

        We are making significant changes in our internal controls and our disclosure controls and procedures. Any system of controls, however well designed and
operated, is based in part on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurances that the objectives of the system are met. The
failure or circumvention of our controls, policies and procedures could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

If we fail to meet the requirements of new regulations regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, our financial reporting and
business will be negatively affected.

        Pursuant to new SEC rules under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we are required to include in our future Form 10-K filings a report by our management as
to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Beginning with our Form 10-K for 2004, our independent auditors will be required to attest to
and report on the evaluation by management. We have commenced the design and implementation of new and enhanced internal controls over financial reporting,
and we anticipate making further changes to improve them, some of which may result in higher future operating expenses and capital expenditures. If we fail to
strengthen our internal control over financial reporting, or receive an adverse opinion from our auditors as to the adequacy of our internal control over financial
reporting, our ability to manage our business may be impaired, errors may occur or fail to be identified, and our financial condition could be harmed.

We face risks related to securities litigation and investigations that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

        We have been named as a defendant in a number of securities class action and derivative lawsuits and are the subject of a formal investigation initiated by
the SEC. We are generally obliged, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify our current and former directors and officers who are named as defendants in
some of these lawsuits. Defending against existing and potential litigation relating to the restatement of our consolidated financial statements will likely require
significant attention and resources of management. Regardless of the outcome, such litigation and investigation will result in significant legal expenses and may
also negatively affect our relationships with our customers and our employees. If our defenses are ultimately unsuccessful, or if we are unable to achieve a
favorable settlement, we could be liable for large damage awards that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

The limitations of our director and officer liability insurance may materially harm our business and financial condition.

        Our director and officer liability insurance policies provide only limited liability protection relating to the securities class action and derivative lawsuits
against us and certain of our officers and directors. If these policies do not adequately cover expenses and certain liabilities relating to these lawsuits, our financial
condition could be materially harmed. The facts underlying the lawsuits and SEC investigation have made director and officer liability insurance extremely
expensive for us, and may make this insurance coverage unavailable for us in the future. Increased premiums could materially harm our
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financial results in future periods. The inability to obtain this coverage due to its unavailability or prohibitively expensive premiums would make it more difficult
to retain and attract officers and directors and expose us to potentially self-funding any potential future liabilities ordinarily mitigated by director and officer
liability insurance.

Management's time and effort expected to be spent to respond to the SEC investigation may adversely affect our business and our results of operations.

        We have received a formal order of private investigation from the SEC. Our management will spend considerable time and effort cooperating with the SEC
in its investigation. The significant time and effort expected to be spent on this SEC investigation may adversely affect our business, results of operations and
financial condition. We may incur substantial costs in connection with the investigation including fines and significant legal expenses.

Our business has been adversely affected by developments in the telecommunications industry and these developments may continue to affect our revenues
and operating results.

        From our inception through the year 2000, the telecommunications market experienced rapid growth spurred by a number of factors, including deregulation
in the industry, entry of a large number of new emerging service providers, growth in data traffic and the availability of significant capital from the financial
markets. Commencing in 2001 and continuing in 2002 and the first half of 2003, the telecommunications industry experienced a reversal of some of these trends,
marked by dramatic reductions in capital expenditures, financial difficulties, and, in some cases, bankruptcies experienced by service providers. These conditions
caused a substantial, unexpected reduction in demand for telecommunications equipment, including our products.

        We expect the developments described above to continue to affect our business in the following manner:

• our ability to accurately forecast revenue and plan our business is diminished; 

• our revenues could be unexpectedly reduced; and 

• we may incur losses because a high percentage of our operating expenses are expected to continue to be fixed in the short-term.

        Our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected by any one or a combination of the above.

We expect that a majority of our revenues will be generated from a limited number of customers and we will not be successful if we do not grow our customer
base.

        To date, we have shipped our products to a limited number of customers. We expect that in the foreseeable future, the majority of our revenues will continue
to depend on sales of our products to a limited number of customers. Four, four, one and three customers each contributed more than 10% of our revenues for the
first six months of fiscal 2004, and fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, which represented an aggregate of 55%, 57%, 42% and 60% of total revenues. Our future success
will depend on our ability to attract additional customers beyond our current limited number. The growth of our customer base could be adversely affected by:

• customer unwillingness to implement our new voice infrastructure products or renew contracts as they expire; 

• potential customer concerns with selecting an emerging telecommunications equipment vendor; 

• delays or difficulties that we may incur in completing the development and introduction of our planned products or product enhancements;
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• further deterioration in the general financial condition of service providers, including additional bankruptcies, or inability to raise capital; 

• new product introductions by our competitors; 

• failure of our products to perform as expected; or 

• difficulties we may incur in meeting customers' delivery requirements.

        The loss of any of our significant customers or any substantial reduction in orders or contractual commitments from these customers could materially
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. If we do not expand our customer base to include additional customers that deploy our products
in operational commercial networks, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

The market for voice infrastructure products for the new public network is new and evolving and our business will suffer if it does not develop as we expect.

        The market for our products continues to evolve. In particular, wireless, cable and broadband access networks are emerging to become important markets for
our products. Packet-based technology may not become widely accepted as a platform for voice and a viable market for our products may not be sustainable. If
this market does not develop, or develops more slowly than we expect, we may not be able to sell our products in significant volume.

If we do not anticipate and meet specific customer requirements or if our products do not interoperate with our customers' existing networks, we may not
retain current customers or attract new customers.

        To achieve market acceptance for our products, we must effectively anticipate, and adapt in a timely manner to, customer requirements and offer products
and services that meet changing customer demands. Prospective customers may require product features and capabilities that our current products do not have.
The introduction of new or enhanced products also requires that we carefully manage the transition from older products in order to minimize disruption in
customer ordering patterns and ensure that adequate supplies of new products can be delivered to meet anticipated customer demand. If we fail to develop
products and offer services that satisfy customer requirements, or to effectively manage the transition from older products, our ability to create or increase
demand for our products would be seriously harmed and we may lose current and prospective customers.

        Many of our customers will require that our products be designed to interface with their existing networks, each of which may have different specifications.
Issues caused by an unanticipated lack of interoperability may result in significant warranty, support and repair costs, divert the attention of our engineering
personnel from our hardware and software development efforts and cause significant customer relations problems. If our products do not interoperate with those
of our customers' networks, installations could be delayed or orders for our products could be cancelled, which would seriously harm our gross margins and result
in loss of revenues or customers.

Our large customers have substantial negotiating leverage, which may require that we agree to terms and conditions that may have an adverse effect on our
business.

        Large telecommunications providers have substantial purchasing power and leverage negotiating contractual arrangements with us. These customers may
require us to develop additional features and require penalties for failure to deliver such features. As we seek to sell more products to this class of customer, we
may be required to agree to such terms and conditions, which may affect the timing of revenue recognition and amount of deferred revenues and may have an
adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
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We may face risks associated with our international expansion that could impair our ability to grow our revenues abroad.

        International revenues, primarily attributable to Asia and Europe, were approximately $16 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and we intend to
continue to expand our sales into international markets. This expansion will require significant management attention and financial resources to successfully
develop direct and indirect international sales and support channels. In addition, we may not be able to develop international market demand for our products,
which could impair our ability to grow our revenues. We have limited experience marketing, distributing and supporting our products internationally and, to do
so, we expect that we will need to develop versions of our products that comply with local standards. Furthermore, international operations are subject to other
inherent risks, including:

• greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and longer collection periods; 

• difficulties and costs of staffing and managing international operations; 

• the impact of differing technical standards outside the United States; 

• the impact of recessions in economies outside the United States; 

• unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and currency exchange rates; 

• certification requirements; 

• reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries; 

• potentially adverse tax consequences; and 

• political and economic instability.

We may not become profitable.

        We have incurred significant losses since inception and, as of June 30, 2004, had an accumulated deficit of $800.6 million. We have not achieved
profitability on an annual basis and may incur additional net losses in future quarters and years. Our revenues may not grow and we may never generate sufficient
revenues to sustain profitability.

The unpredictability of our quarterly results may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

        Our revenues and operating results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and
any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate. Generally, purchases by service providers of telecommunications equipment from manufacturers have been
unpredictable and clustered, rather than steady, as the providers build out their networks. The primary factors that may affect our revenues and results include the
following:

• fluctuation in demand for our voice infrastructure products and the timing and size of customer orders; 

• the cancellation or deferral of existing customer orders or the renegotiation of existing contractual commitments; 

• the failure of certain of our customers to successfully and timely reorganize their operations, including emerging from bankruptcy; 

• the length and variability of the sales cycle for our products; 

• the timing of revenue recognition and amount of deferred revenues; 

• new product introductions and enhancements by our competitors and us;
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• changes in our pricing policies, the pricing policies of our competitors and the prices of the components of our products; 

• our ability to develop, introduce and ship new products and product enhancements that meet customer requirements in a timely manner; 

• the mix of product configurations sold; 

• our ability to obtain sufficient supplies of sole or limited source components; 

• our ability to attain and maintain production volumes and quality levels for our products; 

• costs related to acquisitions of complementary products, technologies or businesses; 

• general economic conditions, as well as those specific to the telecommunications, networking and related industries; and 

• the application of complex revenue recognition accounting rules to our customer arrangements.

        As with other telecommunications product suppliers, we may recognize a substantial portion of our revenue in a given quarter from sales booked and shipped
in the last weeks of that quarter. As a result, delays in customer orders may result in delays in shipments and recognition of revenue beyond the end of a given
quarter.

        A significant portion of our operating expenses is fixed in the short-term. If revenues for a particular quarter are below expectations, we may not be able to
reduce operating expenses proportionally for the quarter. Any such revenue shortfall would, therefore, have a significant effect on our operating results for the
quarter.

        We believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our operating results are not a good indication of our future performance. It is likely that in some future
quarters, our operating results may be below the expectations of public market analysts and investors, which may adversely affect our stock price.

We are entirely dependent upon our voice infrastructure products and our future revenues depend upon their commercial success.

        Our future growth depends upon the commercial success of our voice infrastructure products. We intend to develop and introduce new products and
enhancements to existing products in the future. We may not successfully complete the development or introduction of these products. If our target customers do
not adopt, purchase and successfully deploy our current or planned products, our revenues will not grow.

If we do not respond rapidly to technological changes or to changes in industry standards, our products could become obsolete.

        The market for packet voice infrastructure products is likely to be characterized by rapid technological change and frequent new product introductions. We
may be unable to respond quickly or effectively to these developments. We may experience difficulties with software development, hardware design,
manufacturing or marketing that could delay or prevent our development, introduction or marketing of new products and enhancements. The introduction of new
products by our competitors, the market acceptance of products based on new or alternative technologies or the emergence of new industry standards could render
our existing or future products obsolete. If the standards adopted are different from those that we have chosen to support, market acceptance of our products may
be significantly reduced or delayed. If our products become technologically obsolete, we may be unable to sell our products in the marketplace and generate
revenues.
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If we fail to compete successfully, our ability to increase our revenues or achieve profitability will be impaired.

        Competition in the telecommunications market is intense. This market has historically been dominated by large companies, such as Lucent Technologies,
Nortel Networks and Siemens, all of which are our direct competitors. We also face competition from other large telecommunications and networking companies,
including Cisco Systems, some of which have entered our market by acquiring companies that design competing products. Because this market is rapidly
evolving, additional competitors with significant financial resources may enter these markets and further intensify competition.

        Many of our current and potential competitors have significantly greater selling and marketing, technical, manufacturing, financial and other resources.
Further, some of our competitors sell significant amounts of other products to our current and prospective customers. Our competitors' broad product portfolios,
coupled with already existing relationships, may cause our customers to buy our competitors' products or harm our ability to attract new customers.

        To compete effectively, we must deliver innovative products that:

• provide extremely high reliability and voice quality; 

• scale easily and efficiently; 

• interoperate with existing network designs and other vendors' equipment; 

• provide effective network management; 

• are accompanied by comprehensive customer support and professional services; and 

• provide a cost-effective and space efficient solution for service providers.

        If we are unable to compete successfully against our current and future competitors, we could experience price reductions, order cancellations, loss of
customers and revenues and reduced gross profit margins.

Because our products are sophisticated and designed to be deployed in complex environments, they may have errors or defects that we find only after full
deployment, which could seriously harm our business.

        Our products are sophisticated and are designed to be deployed in large and complex networks. Because of the nature of our products, they can only be fully
tested when substantially deployed in very large networks with high volumes of traffic. Some of our customers have only recently begun to commercially deploy
our products and they may discover errors or defects in the software or hardware, or the products may not operate as expected. If we are unable to fix errors or
other performance problems that may be identified after full deployment of our products, we could experience:

• loss of, or delay in, revenues; 

• loss of customers and market share; 

• a failure to attract new customers or achieve market acceptance for our products; 

• increased service, support and warranty costs and a diversion of development resources; and 

• costly and time-consuming legal actions by our customers.

Because our products are deployed in large, complex networks around the world, failure to establish a support infrastructure and maintain required support
levels could seriously harm our business.

        Our products are deployed in large and complex networks around the world. Our customers expect us to establish a support infrastructure and maintain
demanding support standards to ensure that their
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networks maintain high levels of availability and performance. To support the continued growth of our business, our support organization will need to provide
service and support at a high level throughout the world. If we are unable to provide the expected level of support and service to our customers, we could
experience:

• loss of customers and market share; 

• a failure to attract new customers in new geographies; 

• increased service, support and warranty costs and a diversion of development resources; and 

• network performance penalties.

We have experienced changes in our senior management, which could affect our business and operations.

        Since April 2004, we have made significant changes in our senior management team. We have hired a President and Chief Operating Officer, Chief
Marketing Officer and General Manager of Europe, Middle East and Africa and a new Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer. We presently are in the process of recruiting a new Chief Financial Officer. Because of these recent changes, our management team may not be able to
work together effectively to successfully develop and implement our business strategies and financial operations. In addition, management will need to devote
significant attention and resources to preserve and strengthen relationships with employees, customers and the investor community. If our new management team
is unable to achieve these goals, our ability to grow our business and successfully meet operational challenges could be impaired.

If we fail to hire and retain needed personnel, the implementation of our business plan could slow or our future growth could halt.

        Our business depends upon highly skilled engineering, sales, marketing and customer support personnel. Any failure to hire or retain needed qualified
personnel could impair our growth. Our future success depends upon the continued services of our executive officers who have critical industry experience and
relationships that we rely on to implement our business plan. None of our officers or key employees is bound by an employment agreement for any specific term.
The loss of the services of any of our officers or key employees could delay the development and introduction of, and negatively impact our ability to sell, our
products.

If we are subject to employment claims, we could incur substantial costs in defending ourselves.

        We may become subject to employment claims in connection with employee terminations. In addition, companies in our industry whose employees accept
positions with competitors frequently claim that their competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practices. These claims may result in material litigation. We could
incur substantial costs defending ourselves or our employees against those claims, regardless of their merits. In addition, defending ourselves from those types of
claims could divert our management's attention from our operations. If we are found liable in connection with any employment claim, we may incur significant
costs that could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations.

We depend upon contract manufacturers and any disruption in these relationships may cause us to fail to meet the demands of our customers and damage
our customer relationships.

        We rely on a small number of contract manufacturers to manufacture our products according to our specifications and to fill orders on a timely basis. Our
contract manufacturers provide comprehensive manufacturing services, including assembly of our products and procurement of materials. Each of our contract
manufacturers also builds products for other companies and may not
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always have sufficient quantities of inventory available to fill our orders or may not allocate their internal resources to fill these orders on a timely basis. We do
not have long-term supply contracts with our manufacturers and they are not required to manufacture products for any specified period. We do not have internal
manufacturing capabilities to meet our customers' demands. Qualifying a new contract manufacturer and commencing commercial scale production is expensive
and time consuming and could result in a significant interruption in the supply of our products. If a change in contract manufacturers results in delays in our
fulfillment of customer orders or if a contract manufacturer fails to make timely delivery of orders, we may lose revenues and suffer damage to our customer
relationships.

We and our contract manufacturers rely on single or limited sources for supply of some components of our products and if we fail to adequately predict our
manufacturing requirements or if our supply of any of these components is disrupted, we will be unable to ship our products.

        We and our contract manufacturers currently purchase several key components of our products, including commercial digital signal processors, from single
or limited sources. We purchase these components on a purchase order basis. If we overestimate our component requirements, we could have excess inventory,
which would increase our costs. If we underestimate our requirements, we may not have an adequate supply, which could interrupt manufacturing of our products
and result in delays in shipments and revenues.

        We currently do not have long-term supply contracts with our component suppliers and they are not required to supply us with products for any specified
periods, in any specified quantities or at any set price, except as may be specified in a particular purchase order. In the event of a disruption or delay in supply, or
inability to obtain products, we may not be able to develop an alternate source in a timely manner or at favorable prices, or at all. A failure to find acceptable
alternative sources could hurt our ability to deliver high-quality products to our customers and negatively affect our operating margins. In addition, reliance on
our suppliers exposes us to potential supplier production difficulties or quality variations. Our customers rely upon our ability to meet committed delivery dates,
and any disruption in the supply of key components would seriously adversely affect our ability to meet these dates and could result in legal action by our
customers, loss of customers or harm our ability to attract new customers.

If we are not able to obtain necessary licenses of third party technology at acceptable prices, or at all, our products could become obsolete.

        We have incorporated third-party licensed technology into our current products. From time to time, we may be required to license additional technology from
third parties to develop new products or product enhancements. Third party licenses may not be available or continue to be available to us on commercially
reasonable terms. The inability to maintain or re-license any third party licenses required in our current products or to obtain any new third party licenses to
develop new products and product enhancements could require us to obtain substitute technology of lower quality or performance standards or at greater cost, and
delay or prevent us from making these products or enhancements, any of which could seriously harm the competitiveness of our products.

Our ability to compete and our business could be jeopardized if we are unable to protect our intellectual property or become subject to intellectual property
rights claims, which could require us to incur significant costs.

        We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and restrictions on disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights.
Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. Monitoring
unauthorized use of our products is difficult and we cannot be certain that the
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steps we have taken will prevent unauthorized use of our technology, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not protect our proprietary rights as
fully as in the United States. If competitors are able to use our technology, our ability to compete effectively could be harmed.

        In addition, we have received inquiries from other patent holders and may become subject to claims that we infringe their intellectual property rights. Any
parties asserting that our products infringe upon their proprietary rights could force us to license their patents for substantial royalty payments or to defend
ourselves and possibly our customers or contract manufacturers in litigation. These claims and any resulting licensing arrangement or lawsuit, if successful, could
subject us to significant royalty payments or liability for damages and invalidation of our proprietary rights. Any potential intellectual property litigation also
could force us to do one or more of the following:

• stop selling, incorporating or using our products that use the challenged intellectual property; 

• obtain from the owner of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant technology, which license may not be
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or 

• redesign those products that use any allegedly infringing technology.

        Any lawsuits regarding intellectual property rights, regardless of their success, would be time-consuming, expensive to resolve and would divert our
management's time and attention.

Any investments or acquisitions we make could disrupt our business and seriously harm our financial condition.

        Although we have no current plans or agreements to do so, we intend to consider investing in, or acquiring, complementary products, technologies or
businesses. In the event of future investments or acquisitions, we could:

• issue stock that would dilute our current stockholders' percentage ownership; 

• incur debt or assume liabilities; 

• incur significant impairment charges related to the write-off of goodwill and purchased intangible assets; 

• incur significant amortization expenses related to purchased intangible assets; or 

• incur large and immediate write-offs for in-process research and development and stock based compensation.

        Our integration of any acquired products, technologies or businesses will also involve numerous risks, including:

• problems and unanticipated costs associated with combining the purchased products, technologies or businesses; 

• diversion of management's attention from our core business; 

• adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers; 

• risks associated with entering markets in which we have limited or no prior experience; and 

• potential loss of key employees, particularly those of the acquired organizations.

        We may be unable to successfully integrate any products, technologies, businesses or personnel that we might acquire in the future without significant costs
or disruption to our business.
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We may seek to raise additional capital in the future, which may not be available to us, and if it is available, may dilute the ownership of our common stock.

        In April and September 2003, we completed public offerings of 20,000,000 and 17,000,000 shares of our common stock resulting in the dilution of our
existing investors' percentage ownership of our common stock. In the future, we may seek to raise additional funds through public or private debt or equity
financings in order to:

• fund ongoing operations and capital requirements; 

• take advantage of opportunities, including more rapid expansion or acquisition of complementary products, technologies or businesses; 

• develop new products; or 

• respond to competitive pressures.

        Any additional capital raised through the sale of convertible debt or equity may further dilute an investor's percentage ownership of our common stock.
Furthermore, additional financings may not be available on terms favorable to us, or at all. A failure to obtain additional funding could prevent us from making
expenditures that may be required to grow or maintain our operations.

Our stock price has been and may continue to be volatile.

        The market for technology stocks has been and will likely continue to be extremely volatile. The following factors could cause the market price of our
common stock to fluctuate significantly:

• changes in our listing status on the Nasdaq Stock Market; 

• the addition or loss of any major customer; 

• changes in the financial condition or anticipated capital expenditure purchases of any existing or potential major customer; 

• quarterly variations in our operating results; 

• changes in financial estimates by securities analysts; 

• speculation in the press or investment community; 

• announcements by us or our competitors of significant contracts, new products or acquisitions, distribution partnerships, joint ventures or capital
commitments; 

• sales of common stock or other securities by us or by our stockholders in the future; 

• securities and other litigation; 

• announcement of a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend or similar event; 

• economic conditions for the telecommunications, networking and related industries; and 

• worldwide economic instability.

Sales of a substantial amount of our common stock in the future could cause our stock price to fall.

        Some stockholders who acquired shares prior to our IPO or in connection with our acquisition of TTI hold a substantial number of shares of our common
stock that have not yet been sold in the public market. Further, additional shares may become available for sale upon the conversion or redemption of our
convertible subordinated note. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock within a short period of time in the future could impair our ability to
raise capital through the sale of additional debt or stock and/or cause our stock price to fall.
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Provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could prevent a change of control.

        Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our amended and restated by-laws and Delaware law could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders.

Item 3: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

        We do not currently use derivative financial instruments. We generally place our marketable security investments in high-quality credit instruments,
primarily U.S. Government, state government obligations and corporate obligations with contractual maturities of less than one year. We do not expect any
material loss from our marketable security investments and therefore believe that our potential interest rate exposure is not material. We have no current material
exposure to foreign currency rate fluctuations, though we will continue to evaluate the impact of foreign currency exchange risk on our results of operations as we
expand internationally.

Item 4: Controls and Procedures

        Our current management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and co-principal financial officers, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 240.13a-15(e) and 240.15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) as of June 30, 2004, which
included an evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures applicable to the period covered by the filing of this periodic report. As noted below, we have
identified material weaknesses in our internal controls and procedures, as they existed as of June 30, 2004.

        In connection with the restatement of our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 and the nine months ended
September 30, 2003, as described in our Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003, we and
Ernst & Young LLP, our independent auditors, identified and reported to our audit committee significant internal control matters that collectively constitute
"material weaknesses." These internal control matters, any one or more of which may individually or together constitute a material weakness, include: insufficient
contract review and documentation; inadequate supervision and review within the finance and accounting department; inadequate segregation of duties;
insufficient supporting documentation for and review of account reconciliations; lack of adequate controls over cash receipts; lack of adequate technical
accounting expertise; insufficient equity review procedures and documentation; flawed foundations for accounting estimates; and inadequate quarterly and year-
end financial statement close and review procedures.

        Based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2004, which included an evaluation of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures applicable to the periods covered by the filing of this periodic report, and subject to the information set forth in this Item
4, our principal executive officer and co-principal financial officers have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were inadequate, as further
described in this Item 4. We have commenced the design and implementation of new and enhanced controls and procedures to address these material weaknesses.
While we are completing the design and implementation of our controls environment, there remains risk that the transitional controls, described below, on which
we currently rely will fail to be sufficiently effective, which could result in material misstatement of our financial position or results of operations.

        During the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004, we have made changes that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting (as
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defined in Rules 240.13a-15(f) and 240.15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act). These measures include the following:

• We have hired a President and Chief Operating Officer and a new Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
as well as other personnel into our finance and accounting organization who have expertise in financial controls and reporting, to improve the
overall quality and level of experience in our finance and accounting organization, and we transitioned the individual then serving as Chief
Financial Officer out of that position. 

• We have made changes in our finance and accounting organization to provide clearer segregation of responsibilities and supervision with regard
to, among others, account reconciliations and documentation supporting our quarterly and annual financial statements. We will continue to make
further changes, as appropriate, in our finance and accounting organization to create clearer segregation of responsibilities and supervision, and to
increase the level of technical accounting expertise including the use of outside accounting experts. 

• We have implemented an enhanced quarterly financial review process, which includes a formal closing meeting each quarter chaired by the chief
accounting officer and attended by a cross-section of senior financial management. 

• We have initiated additional training of our sales and marketing organizations regarding revenue recognition rules and best practices. 

• We have initiated a series of steps to improve the information flow among the various departments that have a role in the determination of proper
revenue recognition. 

• We have made a series of changes to our cash receipts recording processes. 

• We have made changes in the review procedures associated with equity transactions including supervision by an experienced technical accountant.

• We continue to communicate to senior management and other key personnel the importance of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and
adherence to the requirements set forth in it. 

• We continue to communicate to employees about the availability of our formal reporting system for employees to identify potential concerns or
ethical issues on an anonymous basis.

        During 2004, through the filing date of this report, we continue to implement additional changes to our infrastructure and related processes that are also
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting, which include:

• We are actively recruiting other senior level members of the finance and accounting organization, including a Chief Financial Officer. 

• We have hired a Director of Internal Audit. 

• We are establishing a cross-functional bids and proposals group to manage customer contract negotiation, review and implementation and assess
related revenue recognition implications. 

• We are changing our quarterly close process to include detailed analysis in support of the financial accounts and improved supervision over the
process.

        With the assistance of our advisors, we plan to take additional steps to strengthen our internal controls, including expansion of our transaction approval
procedures to include the involvement of sales and service personnel and the implementation of a formal contract review procedure; implementation of processes
to improve communication among our various functional groups, which include sales, manufacturing, customer support, engineering, accounting, and legal,
during the contract negotiation
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and implementation phases; implementation of an internal audit function; and improved operating controls and reporting processes.

        Based on the changes and improvements made since January 1, 2004, our management, including our principal executive officer and co-principal financial
officers, believes that as of the date of this filing, our disclosure controls and procedures (1) were designed to ensure that material information relating to our
company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to our principal executive officer and co-principal financial officers by others within those
entities, and (2) given the late filing of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, are not yet effective but have improved since
March 31, 2004 given the changes discussed above affecting internal control over financial reporting implemented during the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2004
and through the date of this report in providing reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. We currently are designing and
implementing a new controls environment to address the material weaknesses described above. While this design and implementation phase is underway, we are
relying on extensive manual procedures, including regular reviews and the significant utilization of outside accounting professionals, to assist us with meeting the
objectives otherwise fulfilled by an effective controls environment. We expect to establish and implement a system and policy-based set of controls. While we are
completing the design and implementation of our controls environment, there remains risk that the transitional controls on which we are currently relying will fail
to be sufficiently effective. We also note, however, that a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints. Because
of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and breakdowns can occur because of simple
error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management
override of the controls. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be
no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, our control systems, as we develop them,
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

        The certifications of our principal executive officer and co-principal financial officers required in accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 are attached as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The disclosures set forth in this Item 4 contain information concerning the evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, and changes in internal control over financial reporting, referred to in paragraph 4 of the certifications. This Item 4 should be
read in conjunction with the officer certifications for a more complete understanding of the topics presented.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1: Legal Proceedings

        In November 2001, a purchaser of our common stock filed a complaint in the federal district court for the Southern District of New York against us, two of
our officers and the lead underwriters alleging violations of the federal securities laws in connection with our initial public offering (IPO) and seeking unspecified
monetary damages. The purchaser seeks to represent a class of persons who purchased our common stock between the IPO on May 24, 2000 and December 6,
2000. An amended complaint was filed in April 2002. The amended complaint alleges that our registration statement contained false or misleading information or
omitted to state material facts concerning the alleged receipt of undisclosed compensation by the underwriters and the existence of undisclosed arrangements
between underwriters and certain purchasers to make additional purchases in the after market. The claims against us are asserted under Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1933 and against the individual defendants under Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities
Act. Other plaintiffs have filed substantially similar class action cases against approximately 300 other publicly traded companies and their IPO underwriters
which, along with the actions against us, have been transferred to a single federal judge for purposes of coordinated case management. On July 15, 2002, we,
together with the other issuers named as defendants in these coordinated proceedings, filed a collective motion to dismiss the consolidated amended complaints
on various legal grounds common to all or most of the issuer defendants. The plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the claims against the individual defendants,
including those of our officers named in the complaint. On February 19, 2003, the court granted a portion of the motion to dismiss by dismissing the
Section 10(b) claims against certain defendants including us, but denied the remainder of the motion as to the defendants. Accordingly, the case proceeded against
us on the Section 11 claims. In June 2003, a special committee of our Board of Directors authorized us to enter into a proposed settlement with the plaintiffs on
terms substantially consistent with the terms of a Memorandum of Understanding negotiated among representatives of the plaintiffs, the issuer defendants and the
insurers for the issuer defendants. The settlement contemplated by the Memorandum of Understanding is subject to a number of conditions including approval by
the court. It remains uncertain whether and when the conditions will be met and the settlement will become final. We do not expect that the settlement
contemplated by the Memorandum of Understanding would have a material impact on our business or financial results.

        Beginning in July 2002, several purchasers of our common stock filed complaints in federal district court for the District of Massachusetts against us, certain
officers and directors and a former officer under Sections 10(b) and 20(a) and Rule 10b-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Class Action Complaints). The
purchasers seek to represent a class of persons who purchased our common stock between December 11, 2000 and January 16, 2002, and seek unspecified
monetary damages. The Class Action Complaints were essentially identical and alleged that we made false and misleading statements about its products and
business. On March 3, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a Consolidated Amended Complaint. On April 22, 2003, we filed a motion to dismiss the Consolidated Amended
Complaint on various grounds. On May 11, 2004, the court held oral argument on the motion, at the conclusion of which the court denied our motion to dismiss.
The plaintiffs filed a motion for class certification on July 30, 2004, and our opposition is due on September 10, 2004. We believe the claims in the Consolidated
Amended Complaint are without merit and that we have substantial legal and factual defenses, which we intend to pursue vigorously. There is no assurance we
will prevail in defending these actions.

        Beginning in February 2004, a number of purported shareholder class action complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the District of
Massachusetts against us and certain of our current officers and directors. The complaints assert claims under the federal securities laws, specifically Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, relating to our announcement that it had identified issues, practices and actions of certain employees
relating to both the timing of revenue
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recognized from certain customer transactions and other financial statement accounts, which could affect its 2003 financial statement accounts and possibly
financial statements for prior periods. Specifically, these actions allege that we issued a series of false or misleading statements to the market during the class
period that failed to disclose that (i) we had materially overstated our revenue by improperly recognizing revenue on certain customer contracts; (ii) we lacked
adequate internal controls and were therefore unable to ascertain our true financial condition; and (iii) as a result of the foregoing, our financial statements issued
during the class period were materially false and misleading. Plaintiffs contend that such statements caused our stock price to be artificially inflated. The
complaints seek unspecified damages on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of our common stock during the period from April 9, 2003, June 3, 2003 or
June 5, 2003 through February 11, 2004. On June 28, 2004, the court consolidated the claims. On August 10, 2004 the court appointed the lead plaintiff and
selected the lead counsel and ordered the lead plaintiff to file a consolidated amended complaint by October 12, 2004. We believe that we have substantial legal
and factual defenses to the claims, which we intend to pursue vigorously. There is no assurance we will prevail in defending these actions.

        In February 2004, three purported shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts against us
and certain of our officers and directors, naming us as a nominal defendant. Also in February 2004, two purported shareholder derivative lawsuits were filed in
the business litigation session of the superior court of Suffolk County of Massachusetts against us and certain of our directors and officers, also naming us as a
nominal defendant. The suits claim that certain of our officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to our stockholders and to the company. The
complaints are derivative in nature and do not seek relief from us. However, we have entered into indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business
with certain of the defendant officers and directors and may be obligated throughout the pendency of these actions to advance payment of legal fees and costs
incurred by the defendants pursuant to our obligations under the indemnification agreements and/or applicable Delaware law. We filed a motion to dismiss the
state court cases and a motion to stay the federal action pending the outcome of the motion to dismiss in state court. On June 11, 2004, the state court held oral
argument on the motion and took the matter under advisement. On June 28, 2004, the federal court consolidated the three actions and stayed the case pending
ruling by the state court on the motion to dismiss. On August 10, 2004, the federal court selected lead counsel in the consolidated action and ordered that a
consolidated amended complaint be filed by October 12, 2004. We believe that we have substantial legal and factual defenses to the claims, which we intend to
pursue vigorously. There is no assurance we will prevail in defending these actions.

        In June 2004, we received a formal order of private investigation from the SEC. We are cooperating with the investigation. There can be no assurance as to
the outcome of the SEC investigation. We may incur substantial costs in connection with the investigation including fines and significant legal expenses.

        We have been contacted by third parties, who claim that our products infringe on certain intellectual property of the third party. We evaluate these claims and
accrue for royalties when the amounts are probable and reasonably estimable. While we believe that the amounts accrued for estimated royalties are adequate, the
amounts required to ultimately settle royalty obligations may be different.
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Item 6: Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits:

Exhibit Number

 

Description

10.1 Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan.

10.2 Form of Director and Officer Indemnity Agreement.

31.1 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

31.3 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.3 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

        On April 27, 2004, we furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K to the SEC under Item 12 (Results of Operations and Financial Condition) reporting, among
other things, certain preliminary financial results for the quarter ended March 31, 2004.

SIGNATURE 

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: August 20, 2004  SONUS NETWORKS, INC.

  By: /s/  BRADLEY T. MILLER      

Bradley T. Miller
Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer

and Co-Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit Number

 

Description

10.1 Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan.

10.2 Form of Director and Officer Indemnity Agreement.

31.1 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

31.3 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Operating Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.3 Certification of Sonus Networks, Inc. Chief Accounting Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002.





 
                                                                    Exhibit 10.1 
 
                              SONUS NETWORKS, INC. 
           NOTICE OF GRANT OF STOCK OPTIONS AND STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT 
                       UNDER THE 1997 STOCK INCENTIVE PLAN 
 
                         ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
     1.   RELATIONSHIP TO PLAN. The Option is granted pursuant to the Company's 
1997 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the "Plan"), and is in all respects 
subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a copy of which has been 
provided to the Optionee (the receipt of which the Optionee hereby 
acknowledges). Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined in this 
Agreement are used as defined in the Plan. The Optionee hereby accepts the 
Option subject to all the terms and provisions of the Plan. The Optionee further 
agrees that all decisions under and interpretations of the Plan by the Company 
will be final, binding, and conclusive upon the Optionee and his or her 
successors, permitted assigns, heirs, and legal representatives. 
 
     2.   VESTING. The Option will vest as follows, provided in each case that 
the Optionee continues his or her employment with the Company or a subsidiary 
thereof on the applicable vesting date: 
 
          a.   NEW HIRE OPTION GRANT. The option will vest and become 
               exercisable (i) with respect to 25% of the Shares on the first 
               anniversary of the date that Optionee's employment with the 
               Company commences ("Employment Date") and, (ii) with respect to 
               the remaining 75% of the Shares, equal increments of 2.0833% of 
               the Shares shall vest monthly thereafter through the fourth 
               anniversary of the Employment Date; 
 
          b.   REFERRAL GRANT. Options granted in connection with the Company's 
               employee referral programs shall vest upon ninety (90) days of 
               employment with the Company by the referred employee. 
 
          c.   ALL OTHER OPTION GRANTS. All other Options granted by the Company 
               shall vest and become exercisable (i) with respect to 25% of the 
               Shares on the first anniversary of the Grant Date (as defined in 
               the Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option Agreement) and, 
               (ii) with respect to the remaining 75% of the Shares, equal 
               increments of 2.0833% of the Shares shall vest monthly thereafter 
               through the fourth anniversary of the Grant Date. 
 
A grant to a non-employee Director of the Company shall vest until the effective 
date of such Director's resignation or removal from the Board of Directors of 
the Company. 
 
     3.   TERMINATION OF OPTION. The Option will terminate on the earlier of 
(a) the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date (or the fifth anniversary of the 
Grant Date, if the Optionee is a Ten Percent Owner), and (b) if the Optionee's 
employment relationship with the Company terminates for any reason, the 
applicable date determined from the following table: 
 
REASON FOR
TERMINATION

OPTION
TERMINATION
DATE -----
----------
------- --
----------
----------

- (i)
death of
Optionee
180 days
thereafter
(ii) total

and
permanent
180 days
thereafter
disability

of
Optionee

(as
defined in
Section
22(e)(3)
of the



Internal
Revenue
Code of
1986, as
amended)
(iii)

termination
for any 30

days
thereafter

other
reason

 
 
Military or sick leave or other bona fide leave will not be deemed a termination 
of the Optionee's employment relationship with the Company provided that it does 
not exceed the longer of 90 days or the period during which the 
 
 
Stock Option Agreement, cont. 
 
 
absent Optionee's re-employment rights are guaranteed by statute or by contract. 
 
     4.   METHODS OF EXERCISE. Except as may otherwise be agreed by the Optionee 
and the Company, the Option will be exercisable only by a written notice in form 
and substance acceptable to the Company, specifying the number of shares to be 
purchased and accompanied by payment in cash, by certified or bank check or as 
otherwise permitted by the Plan, of the aggregate purchase price for the shares 
for which the Option is being exercised. 
 
     5.   PARTIAL EXERCISE. Until this Option terminates, you may exercise it 
as to the number of vested option shares, determined in accordance with Section 
2 above and as identified in the table set forth in the Notice of Stock Option 
Grant and Stock Option Agreement, in full or in part, and from time to time, 
except that this Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a share unless 
such exercise is with respect to the final installment of stock subject to this 
Option and a fractional share (or cash in lieu thereof) must be issued to permit 
the Optionee to exercise completely such final installment. Any fractional share 
with respect to which an installment of this Option cannot be exercised because 
of the limitation contained in the preceding sentence shall remain subject to 
this Option and shall be available for later purchase by the Optionee in 
accordance with the terms hereof. 
 
     6.   CHARACTERIZATION OF OPTION FOR TAX PURPOSES; OTHER OPTIONS. Although 
the Option is intended to qualify as an "incentive stock option" under Section 
422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), the Company 
makes no representation or warranty as to the tax treatment to the Optionee upon 
receipt or exercise of the Option or sale or other disposition of the shares 
covered by the Option. In addition, options granted to the Optionee under the 
Plan and any and all other plans of the Company and its affiliates will not be 
treated as incentive stock options for tax purposes to the extent that options 
covering in excess of $100,000 of stock (based upon fair market value of the 
stock as of the respective dates of grant of such options) become exercisable in 
any calendar year; and such options will be subject to different tax treatment. 
This Option is in addition to any other options heretofore or hereafter granted 
to the Optionee by the Company, but a duplicate original of this instrument 
shall not effect the grant of another option. 
 
     7.   NO OBLIGATION TO EXERCISE OPTION. The grant and acceptance of this 
Option imposes no obligation on the Optionee to exercise it. 
 
     8.   ADJUSTMENT PROVISIONS. In the event of an Acquisition (as defined 
below), if this Option is assumed or substituted by the Acquiror (as defined 
below), then the number of Shares that are not then vested shall become 
accelerated in vesting by 12 months upon the closing of the Acquisition. If this 
Option is not assumed or substituted by the Acquiror, then the number of shares 
covered by this Option that are not then vested shall accelerate in full and 
become immediately exercisable. The Company may in its discretion accelerate the 
vesting schedule at any time. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Acquisition" 
shall mean any (i) merger or consolidation which results in the voting 
securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto representing 
immediately thereafter (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted 
into voting securities of the surviving or acquiring entity (the "Acquiror")) 
less than a majority of the combined voting power of the voting securities of 
the Company or the Acquiror outstanding immediately after such merger or 
consolidation, (ii) sale of all or substantially all the assets of the Company 
or (iii) sale of shares of capital stock of the Company, in a single transaction 
or series of related transactions, representing at least 80% of the voting power 
of the voting securities of the Company. 
 



     9.   NO OBLIGATION TO CONTINUE EMPLOYMENT. The Company and any related 
corporation are not by the Plan or this Option obligated to continue the 
Optionee's employment. 
 
     10.  NO RIGHTS AS STOCKHOLDER UNTIL EXERCISE. The Optionee shall have no 
rights as a stockholder with respect to shares subject to this Agreement until a 
stock certificate therefor has been issued to the Optionee and is fully paid 
for. Except as is expressly provided in the Plan with respect to certain changes 
in the capitalization of the Company, no adjustment shall be made for dividends 
or similar rights for which the record date is prior to the date such stock 
certificate is issued. 
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     11.  COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. The obligations of the Company to sell and 
deliver Shares upon exercise of the Option are subject to all applicable laws, 
rules, and regulations, including all applicable federal and state securities 
laws, and the obtaining of all such approvals by government agencies as may be 
deemed necessary or appropriate by the Board of Directors ("Board") or the 
relevant committee of the Board. 
 
     12.  EARLY DISPOSITION. The Optionee agrees to notify the Company in 
writing immediately after the Optionee makes a Disqualifying Disposition of any 
Common Stock received pursuant to the exercise of this Option. A Disqualifying 
Disposition is any disposition (including any sale) of such Common Stock before 
the LATER of (a) two years after the date the Optionee was granted this option 
or (b) one year after the date the Optionee acquired Common Stock by exercising 
this option. If the Optionee has died before such stock is sold, these holding 
period requirements do not apply and no Disqualifying Disposition can occur 
thereafter. The Optionee also agrees to provide the Company with any information 
which it shall request concerning any such disposition. The Optionee 
acknowledges that he or she will forfeit the favorable income tax treatment 
otherwise available with respect to the exercise of this incentive stock option 
if he or she makes a Disqualifying Disposition of the stock received on exercise 
of this option. The Optionee is urged to consult with his or her own individual 
tax and legal advisors as to the impact upon the exercise of this option as well 
as a subsequent Disqualifying Disposition. 
 
     13.  WITHHOLDING TAXES. If the Company in its discretion determines that it 
is obligated to withhold tax with respect to a Disqualifying Disposition (as 
defined in Section 12 of this Agreement) of Common Stock received by the 
Optionee on exercise of this Option, the Optionee hereby agrees that the Company 
may withhold from the Optionee's wages the appropriate amount of federal, state, 
and local withholding taxes attributable to such Disqualifying Disposition. If 
any portion of this Option is treated as a Nonstatutory option, the Optionee 
hereby agrees that the Company may withhold from the Optionee's wages the 
appropriate amount of federal, state, and local withholding taxes attributable 
to the Optionee's exercise of such Nonstatutory Option. At the Company's 
discretion, the amount required to be withheld may be withheld in cash from such 
wages, paid by Optionee directly, or (with respect to compensation income 
attributable to the exercise of this Option) in kind from the Common Stock 
otherwise deliverable to the Optionee on exercise of this Option. The Optionee 
further agrees that, if the Company does not withhold an amount from the 
Optionee's wages sufficient to satisfy the Company's withholding obligation, the 
Optionee will reimburse the Company on demand, in cash, for the amount under 
withheld. 
 
     14.  UNREGISTERED SHARES. If, at any time, the shares of Common Stock to be 
issued upon exercise of this Option (the "Shares") are not effectively 
registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), 
then: 
 
          (a) REGISTRATION. The Optionee agrees that if the Company at any time, 
or from time to time, deems it necessary or desirable to make any registered 
public offering(s) of shares of Common Stock, then, without the prior written 
consent of the Company, the Optionee will not sell, make any short sale of, 
loan, grant any option for the purchase of, pledge or otherwise encumber, or 
otherwise dispose of, any shares of Common Stock during the 180 day period 
commencing on the effective date of the registration statement relating to such 
registered public offering(s) of shares of Common Stock. 
 
          (b) INVESTMENT REPRESENTATIONS. The Optionee hereby represents, 
warrants and covenants that upon Optionee's future exercise, in whole or in 
part, of this Option: (i) the Optionee is purchasing the Shares for his/her own 
account for investment only, and not with a view to, or for sale in connection 
with, any distribution of the Shares in violation of the Securities Act, or any 
rule or regulation under the Securities Act; (ii) the Optionee has had such 
opportunity, as he/she has deemed adequate to obtain from representatives of the 
Company such information as is necessary to permit him/her to evaluate the 
merits and risks of his/her investment in the Company; (iii) the Optionee has 



sufficient experience in business, financial and investment matters to be able 
to evaluate the risks involved in the purchase of the Shares and to make an 
informed investment decision with respect to such purchase; (iv) the Optionee 
can afford a complete loss of the value of the Shares and is able to bear the 
economic risk of holding such Shares for an indefinite period; (v) the Optionee 
understands that (a) the Shares have not been registered under the Securities 
Act and are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144 under the 
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Securities Act, (b) the Shares cannot be sold, transferred or otherwise disposed 
of unless they are subsequently registered under the Securities Act or an 
exemption from registration is then available; (c) in any event, the exemption 
from registration under Rule 144 will not be available for at least one year and 
even then will not be available unless a public market then exists for the 
Common Stock, adequate information concerning the Company is then available to 
the public, and other terms and conditions of Rule 144 are complied with; and 
(d) there is no registration statement on file with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission with respect to any stock of the Company and the Company has no 
obligation or current intention to register the Shares under the Securities Act. 
 
          By making payment upon any exercise of this Option, in whole or in 
part, the Optionee shall be deemed to have reaffirmed, as of the date of such 
payment, the representations made in this Section 14. 
 
          (c)  LEGEND ON SHARES. The Optionee acknowledges that a legend 
substantially in the following form will be placed on any certificates 
representing the Shares: 
 
          "The shares represented by this certificate have not been registered 
          under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and may not be sold, 
          transferred or otherwise disposed of in the absence of an effective 
          registration statement under such Act or an opinion of counsel 
          satisfactory to the corporation to the effect that such registration 
          is not required." 
 
     15.  GENERAL. This Option may not be transferred except by will or the laws 
of descent and distribution and, during the lifetime of the Optionee, may be 
exercised only by the Optionee. This Agreement will be governed by and 
interpreted and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of 
Delaware (without reference to principles of conflicts or choice of law). The 
captions of the sections of this Agreement are for reference only and will not 
affect the interpretation or construction of this Agreement. This Agreement will 
bind and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective successors, 
permitted assigns, heirs, devisees, and legal representatives. This Agreement 
supersedes all prior agreements, written or oral, between the Optionee and the 
Company relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. 
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                              SONUS NETWORKS, INC. 
                               INDEMNITY AGREEMENT 
 
       This Indemnity Agreement (this "Agreement") is made and entered into 
effective as of the ___ day of ______, 2003, by and between Sonus Networks, 
Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), and _______________ (the 
"Indemnitee"), a director and/or officer of the Corporation. 
 
       WHEREAS, it is essential to the Corporation to retain and attract as 
directors and/or officers the most capable persons available; 
 
       WHEREAS, the possibility of corporate litigation subjects directors and 
officers to expensive litigation risks at the same time that the availability of 
directors' and officers' liability insurance is limited; 
 
       WHEREAS, the Corporation has agreed to indemnify its Directors and 
officers so as to provide them with the maximum possible protection permitted by 
law; and 
 
       WHEREAS, because the statutory indemnification provisions of the General 
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, Section 145, expressly provide that 
they are non-exclusive, the Corporation is willing to agree to indemnify 
directors and officers who have entered into settlements of derivative suits or 
have paid judgments, fines or penalties therefor, provided they have not 
breached the applicable statutory standard of conduct; and 
 
       WHEREAS, the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, Section 
145, and the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation and/or By-laws provide 
that indemnification of the Directors and officers of the Corporation may be 
authorized by agreement, and thereby contemplates that contracts of this nature 
may be entered into between the Corporation and the Indemnitee with respect to 
indemnification of the Indemnitee as a director and/or officer of the 
Corporation. 
 
       NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency and 
adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, the Corporation and the Indemnitee do 
hereby agree as follows: 
 
       1. AGREEMENT TO SERVE. The Indemnitee agrees to serve or continue to 
serve as Director and/or officer of the Corporation for so long as he is duly 
elected or appointed or until such time as he tenders his resignation in writing 
or is otherwise terminated or removed from office. 
 
       2. DEFINITIONS. As used in this Agreement: 
 
            (a) The term "Proceeding" shall include any threatened, pending or 
completed action, suit, arbitration, administrative hearing or other proceeding, 
whether brought by or in the right of the Corporation or otherwise, whether 
brought while the Indemnitee is acting or serving as a Director and/or officer 
of the Corporation or subsequent to the Indemnitee serving in such capacity, and 
whether of a civil, criminal, administrative or investigative nature, and any 
appeal therefrom, in which the Indemnitee and/or the Corporation may be or may 
have been involved as a party or otherwise, (i) by reason of the status of the 
Indemnitee as a director and/or officer of the Corporation or as a director, 
partner, trustee, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, domestic or 
foreign, non-profit or for-profit, partnership, joint venture, trust or other 
enterprise at the request of the Corporation ("Corporate Status"), 
 
 
 
 
 
or (ii) by reason of any action alleged to have been taken by him or of any 
alleged inaction on his part in such Corporate Status. 
 
            (b) The term "Expenses" shall include, without limitation, 
attorneys' fees, retainers, court costs, transcript costs, fees and expenses of 
experts, travel expenses, duplicating costs, printing and binding costs, 
telephone charges, postage, delivery service fees and other disbursements or 
expenses of the types customarily incurred in connection with investigations, 
judicial or administrative proceedings or appeals, and any expenses of 
establishing a right to indemnification under Paragraph 9 of this Agreement, in 
each case to the extent actually and reasonably incurred by a person. The term 
"Expenses" shall not include the amount of judgments, fines or penalties against 



Indemnitee or amounts paid in settlement in connection with such matters. 
 
            (c) References to "other enterprise" shall include, without 
limitation, employee benefit plans; references to "fines" shall include, without 
limitation, any excise tax assessed with respect to any employee benefit plan; 
references to "serving at the request of the Corporation" shall include, without 
limitation, any service as a director and/or officer of the Corporation which 
imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director and/or officer with 
respect to an employee benefit plan, its participants or beneficiaries; and a 
person who acted in good faith and in a manner he or she reasonably believed to 
be in the best interests of the participants and beneficiaries of an employee 
benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner "not opposed to be best 
interests of the Corporation" as referred to in this Agreement. 
 
       3. PROCEEDINGS OTHER THAN BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORATION. The 
Corporation shall indemnify the Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement if the Indemnitee was or is a party to or threatened to be made a 
party to or otherwise involved in any Proceeding (other than a Proceeding by or 
in the right of the Corporation), by reason of the Indemnitee's Corporate Status 
or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such 
capacity, against all Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in 
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or it on his or its behalf in 
connection with such Proceeding, if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in a 
manner he or it reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best 
interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any criminal Proceeding, had 
no reasonable cause to believe his or its conduct was unlawful, provided, that, 
in no event shall the Indemnitee be entitled to indemnification hereunder to the 
extent that such indemnification is prohibited by the General Corporation Law of 
the State of Delaware. The termination of Proceeding by judgment, order, 
settlement, conviction or upon a plea of NOLO CONTENDERE or its equivalent, 
shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the Indemnitee did not act in 
good faith and in a manner which he or it reasonably believed to be in, or not 
opposed to, the best interests of the Corporation, and, with respect to any 
criminal Proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his or its conduct was 
unlawful. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Paragraph, except as 
set forth in Paragraph 9 below, the Corporation shall not indemnify the 
Indemnitee in connection with a Proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by the 
Indemnitee, as the case may be, unless the initiation thereof was approved by 
the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 
 
       4. PROCEEDINGS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORATION. The Corporation 
shall indemnify the Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement if the Indemnitee was or was or is a party to or threatened to be made 
a party to or otherwise involved in any Proceeding by or in the right of the 
Corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the Indemnitee's 
Corporate Status or by 
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reason of any action alleged to have been taken or omitted in such capacity, 
against all Expenses and, to the extent permitted by law, amounts paid in 
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or it or on his or its behalf 
in connection with such Proceeding, if the Indemnitee acted in good faith and in 
a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to, the best interests 
of the Corporation, except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of 
any claim, issue or matter as to which the Indemnitee shall have been adjudged 
to be liable to the Corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of 
Chancery of Delaware or the court in which such Proceeding was brought shall 
determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of such liability but 
in view of all the circumstances of the case, the Indemnitee is fairly and 
reasonably entitled to indemnity for such Expenses which the Court of Chancery 
of Delaware or such other court shall deem proper. 
 
       5. COSTS AND EXPENSES RELATING TO SERVICE AS A WITNESS. The Corporation 
shall indemnify the Indemnitee in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement with respect to all Expenses incurred or suffered by the Indemnitee as 
a result of the service, attendance or appearance by the Indemnitee as a witness 
(or in any other non-party capacity) in any Proceeding (including any part of a 
Proceeding such as appearance at a hearing, deposition or trial or any actions 
taken in response to any subpoena, order, discovery request or the like) if such 
service, attendance or appearance relates to or results from the Indemnitee's 
Corporate Status or by reason of any action alleged to have been taken or 
omitted in such capacity. 
 
       6. INDEMNIFICATION FOR EXPENSES OF SUCCESSFUL PARTY. Notwithstanding 
the other provisions of this Agreement, to the extent that the Indemnitee has 
been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in defense of any Proceeding, or in 
defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against 
Expenses actually and reasonably incurred by him or it or on his or its behalf 



in connection therewith. Without limiting the foregoing, if any Proceeding or 
any claim, issue or matter therein is disposed of, on the merits or otherwise 
(including a disposition without prejudice), without (i) the disposition being 
adverse to the Indemnitee, (ii) an adjudication that the Indemnitee was liable 
to the Corporation, (iii) a plea of guilty or nolo contendere by the Indemnitee, 
(iv) an adjudication that the Indemnitee did not act in good faith and in a 
manner the Indemnitee reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best 
interests of the Corporation, and (v) with respect to any criminal Proceeding, 
an adjudication that the Indemnitee had reasonable cause to believe his conduct 
was unlawful, the Indemnitee shall be considered for the purposes hereof to have 
been wholly successful with respect thereto. 
 
       7. NOTIFICATIONS AND DEFENSE OF CLAIM. As a condition precedent to his or 
its right to be indemnified, the Indemnitee must notify the Corporation in 
writing as soon as practicable of any Proceeding for which indemnity will or 
could be sought. With respect to any Proceeding of which the Corporation is so 
notified, the Corporation will be entitled to participate therein at its own 
expense and/or to assume the defense thereof at its own expense, with legal 
counsel reasonably acceptable to the Indemnitee. After notice from the 
Corporation to the Indemnitee of its election to assume such defense, the 
Corporation shall not be liable to the Indemnitee for any Expenses subsequently 
incurred by the Indemnitee in connection with such Proceeding, other than as 
provided below in this Paragraph 7. The Indemnitee shall have the right to 
employ his or its own counsel in connection with such Proceeding, but the 
Expenses of such counsel incurred after notice from the Corporation of its 
assumption of the defense thereof shall be at the expense of the Indemnitee 
unless (i) the employment of counsel by the Indemnitee has been authorized by 
the Corporation, (ii) counsel to the Indemnitee and to the Corporation shall 
have 
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reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of interest or position on any 
significant issue between the Corporation and the Indemnitee in the conduct of 
the defense of such Proceeding or (iii) the Corporation shall not in fact have 
employed counsel to assume the defense of such Proceeding, in each of which 
cases the Expenses of counsel for the Indemnitee shall be at the expense of the 
Corporation, except as otherwise expressly provided by this Agreement. The 
Corporation shall not be entitled, without the prior written consent of the 
Indemnitee, to assume the defense of any Proceeding brought by or in the right 
of the Corporation or as to which counsel for the Indemnitee shall have 
reasonably made the conclusion provided for in clause (ii) above. The 
Corporation shall not be required to indemnify the Indemnitee under this 
Agreement for any amounts paid in settlement of any Proceeding affected without 
its written consent. The Corporation shall not settle any Proceeding in any 
manner that would impose any penalty or limitation on the Indemnitee without the 
Indemnitee's written consent. Neither the Corporation nor the Indemnitee will 
unreasonably withhold or delay its consent to any proposed settlement. 
 
       8. ADVANCE OF EXPENSES. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 9 below, 
in the event that the Corporation does not assume the defense pursuant to 
Paragraph 9 of this Agreement of any Proceeding of which the Corporation 
receives notice under this Agreement, any Expenses incurred by or on behalf of 
the Indemnitee in connection with any such Proceeding shall be paid by the 
Corporation in advance of the final disposition of such Proceeding, PROVIDED, 
HOWEVER, that the payment of such Expenses incurred by or on behalf of the 
Indemnitee in advance of the final disposition of such Proceeding shall be made 
only upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Indemnitee to repay 
all amounts so advanced in the event that it shall ultimately be determined that 
the Indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation as 
authorized in this Agreement. Such undertaking shall be accepted without 
reference to the financial ability of the Indemnitee to make repayment. 
 
       9. PROCEDURE FOR INDEMNIFICATION. Any indemnification or advancement of 
Expenses pursuant to Paragraphs 3, 4, 6, or 8 of this Agreement shall be made 
promptly, and in any event within 60 days after receipt by the Corporation of 
the written request of the Indemnitee unless with respect to requests under 
Paragraphs 3, 4 or 8 the Corporation determines within such 60-day period that 
the Indemnitee did not meet the applicable standard of conduct set forth in 
Paragraph 3 or 4, as the case may be. Such determination shall be made in each 
instance by (a) a majority vote of the directors of the Corporation consisting 
of persons who are not at that time parties to the Proceeding in question 
("DISINTERESTED DIRECTORS"), (b) a committee of two or more Disinterested 
Directors designated by a majority vote of the Disinterested Directors, (c) if 
there are no Disinterested Directors or if appointed by a majority vote of the 
Disinterested Directors, independent legal counsel (who may be regular legal 
counsel to the Corporation) or (d) by a majority vote of the stockholders of the 
Corporation. The right to indemnification or advances of Expenses as granted by 



this Agreement shall be enforceable by the Indemnitee in any court of competent 
jurisdiction if the Corporation denies such request, in whole or in part, or if 
no disposition thereof is made within the 60-day period referred to above. The 
Indemnitee's Expenses incurred in connection with successfully establishing his 
or its right to indemnification, in whole or in part, in any such Proceeding 
shall also be indemnified by the Corporation. Unless otherwise provided by law, 
the burden of proving that the Indemnitee is not entitled to indemnification or 
advancement of Expenses under this Agreement shall be on the Corporation. 
 
         10. OTHER RIGHTS. The indemnification and advancement of Expenses 
provided by this Agreement shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to 
which the Indemnitee may be entitled 
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under the Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, as amended and/or 
restated from time to time, the By-laws of the Corporation, as amended and/or 
restated from time to time, the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware, any other law (common or statutory), and other agreement or any vote 
of stockholders or Disinterested Directors, or otherwise, both as to action in 
the Indemnitee's official capacity and as to action in any other capacity while 
holding office for the Corporation, and shall continue as to the Indemnitee even 
though the Indemnitee shall have ceased to be a director or officer, and shall 
inure to the benefit of the estate, heirs, executors and administrators of the 
Indemnitee. 
 
       11. PARTIAL INDEMNIFICATION. If the Indemnitee is entitled under any 
provision of this Agreement to indemnification by the Corporation for some or a 
portion of the Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties or amounts paid in 
settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him or it or on his or its behalf 
in connection with any Proceeding but not, however, for the total amount 
thereof, the Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee for the 
portion of such Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties or amounts paid in 
settlement to which the Indemnitee is entitled. 
 
       12. ALLOWANCE FOR COMPLIANCE WITH SEC REQUIREMENTS. The Indemnitee 
acknowledges that the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") has expressed 
the opinion that indemnification of directors and officers for liabilities under 
the Securities Act of 1933 ("ACT") is against public policy as expressed in the 
Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. The Indemnitee each hereby acknowledge and 
agree that it will not be a breach of this Agreement for the Corporation to 
undertake with the SEC in connection with the registration for sale of any 
shares or other securities of the Corporation from time to time that, in the 
event a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the 
payment by the Corporation of expenses incurred or paid by a director or officer 
of the Corporation in the successful defense of any Proceeding) is asserted in 
connection with such shares or other securities being registered, the 
Corporation will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been 
settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of competent jurisdiction on 
the question of whether or not such indemnification by it is against public 
policy as expressed in the Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of 
such issue. The Indemnitee further agree that such submission to a court of 
competent jurisdiction shall not be a breach of this Agreement. 
 
       13. REIMBURSEMENT TO CORPORATION BY INDEMNITEE; LIMITATION ON AMOUNTS 
PAID BY CORPORATION. To the extent the Indemnitee has been indemnified by the 
Corporation hereunder and later receives payments from any insurance carrier 
covering the same Expenses, judgments, fines, penalties, or amounts paid in 
settlement so indemnified by the Corporation hereunder, the Indemnitee shall 
immediately reimburse the Corporation hereunder for all such amounts received 
from the insurer. 
 
       Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Indemnitee 
shall not be entitled to recover amounts under this Agreement which, when added 
to the amount of any insurance proceeds or indemnification payments made to, or 
on behalf of, the Indemnitee under the Certificate of Incorporation or By-laws 
of the Corporation, in the aggregate exceed the expenses, judgments, fines, 
penalties and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by the 
Indemnitee ("EXCESS AMOUNTS"). To the extent the Corporation or any insurance 
carrier has paid Excess Amounts to the Indemnitee the Indemnitee shall be 
obligated to immediately reimburse the Corporation for such Excess Amounts. 
 
       14. CONTINUATION OF RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS. All rights and obligations of 
the Corporation, the Indemnitee hereunder shall continue in full force and 
effect despite the subsequent amendment or 
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modification of the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or By-laws, as 
such are in effect on the date hereof, and such rights and obligations shall not 
be affected by any such amendment or modification, any resolution of directors 
or stockholders of the Corporation, or by any other corporate action which 
conflicts with or purports to amend, modify, limit or eliminate any of the 
rights or obligations of the Corporation, the Indemnitee hereunder. 
 
       15. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement shall not be assigned by the 
Corporation, the Indemnitee without the prior written consent of the other 
parties hereto, except that the Corporation may freely assign its rights and 
obligations under this Agreement to any subsidiary for whom the Indemnitee is 
serving as a director and/or officer thereof; provided, however, that no 
permitted assignment shall release the assignor from its obligations hereunder. 
Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall 
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective heirs, executors, successors and assigns, including, without 
limitation, any successor to the Corporation by way of merger, consolidation 
and/or sale or disposition of all or substantially all of the shares of the 
Corporation. 
 
       16. SAVING CLAUSE. If this Agreement or any portion thereof shall be 
invalidated on any ground by any court of competent jurisdiction, the 
Corporation shall nevertheless indemnify the Indemnitee as to Expenses, 
judgments, fines, penalties and amounts paid in settlement with respect to any 
proceeding to the full extent permitted by any applicable portion of this 
Agreement that shall not have been invalidated or by any other applicable law. 
 
       17. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in two or more fully or 
partially executed counterparts each of which shall be deemed an original 
binding the signer thereof against the other signing parties, but all 
counterparts together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Executed 
signature pages may be removed from counterpart agreements and attached to one 
or more fully executed copies of this Agreement. 
 
       18. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and 
enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware. The Indemnitee 
may elect to have the right to indemnification or reimbursement or advancement 
of Expenses interpreted on the basis of the applicable law in effect at the time 
of the occurrence of the event or events giving rise to the applicable 
Proceeding, to the extent permitted by law, or on the basis of the applicable 
law in effect at the time such indemnification or reimbursement or advancement 
of Expenses is sought. Such election shall be made, by a notice in writing to 
the Corporation, at the time indemnification or reimbursement or advancement of 
Expenses is sought; provided, however, that if no such notice is given, and if 
the General Corporation Law of Delaware is amended, or other Delaware law is 
enacted, to permit further indemnification of the directors and officers, then 
the Indemnitee shall be indemnified to the fullest extent permitted under the 
General Corporation Law, as so amended, or by such other Delaware law, as so 
enacted. 
 
       19. NOTICES. Any and all notices or elections permitted or required to be 
made under this Agreement shall be in writing, signed by the parties giving such 
notice or election and shall be delivered personally, or sent by registered or 
certified mail, return receipt requested, to the Company and the Indemnitee at 
their respective addresses shown below. 
 
       20. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of 
the parties hereto 
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with respect to the subject matter contained herein and supersedes all prior 
agreements whether oral or written by any officer, employee or representative of 
any party hereto in respect of the subject matter contained herein; and any 
prior agreement of the parties hereto in respect of the subject matter contained 
herein is hereby terminated. For avoidance of doubt, the parties confirm that 
the foregoing does not apply to or limit the Indemnitee's rights under Delaware 
law or the Corporation's Certificate of Incorporation or By-Laws. 
 
       21. MODIFICATION AND WAIVER. This Agreement may be amended from time to 
time to reflect changes in Delaware law or for other reasons. No supplement, 
modification or amendment of this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in 
writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiver of any of the provisions of 
this Agreement shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other 
provision hereof nor shall any such waiver constitute a continuing waiver. 



 
       22. ENFORCEMENT. The Corporation expressly confirms and agrees that it 
has entered into this Agreement in order to induce the Indemnitee to continue to 
serve as an officer or director of the Corporation, and acknowledges that the 
Indemnitee is relying upon this Agreement in continuing in such capacity. 
 
         23. PRONOUNS AND NOUNS. Whenever the context may require, any pronouns 
used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or 
neuter forms, and the singular forms of nouns and pronouns shall include the 
pronouns shall include the plural and vice-versa. 
 
       24. CAPTIONS. Captions of paragraphs have been added for convenience only 
and shall not be deemed to be a part of this Agreement. 
 
       IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereby have caused this Agreement to be 
duly executed and signed effective as of the day and year first above written. 
 
 
                                        SONUS NETWORKS, INC. 
 
                                        By: 
                                           ------------------------------------- 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
                                        Address: 
                                                 250 Apollo Drive 
                                                 Chelmsford, MA  01824 
 
                                        INDEMNITEE 
 
 
 
                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                        Name: 
                                        Address: 
                                                -------------------------------- 
                                                -------------------------------- 
                                                -------------------------------- 
                                                -------------------------------- 
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Hassan M. Ahmed, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, of Sonus Networks, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2004 ("Quarterly Report") of Sonus Networks, Inc. (the "Registrant"); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Quarterly Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Quarterly Report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Quarterly Report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Quarterly Report; 

4. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this Quarterly Report is being prepared; 

(b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Quarterly Report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this Quarterly Report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and 

5. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors: 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 20, 2004  /s/  HASSAN M. AHMED      

Hassan M. Ahmed
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors (Principal
Executive Officer)



QuickLinks

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002



QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Albert A. Notini, President and Chief Operating Officer, of Sonus Networks, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2004 ("Quarterly Report") of Sonus Networks, Inc. (the "Registrant"); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Quarterly Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Quarterly Report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Quarterly Report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Quarterly Report; 

4. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this Quarterly Report is being prepared; 

(b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Quarterly Report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this Quarterly Report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and 

5. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors: 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 20, 2004  /s/  ALBERT A. NOTINI      

Albert A. Notini
President and Chief Operating Officer (Co-Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.3

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Bradley T. Miller, Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer, of Sonus Networks, Inc., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2004 ("Quarterly Report") of Sonus Networks, Inc. (the "Registrant"); 

2. Based on my knowledge, this Quarterly Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
Quarterly Report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Quarterly Report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Quarterly Report; 

4. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the Registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this Quarterly Report is being prepared; 

(b) [Paragraph omitted pursuant to SEC Release Nos. 33-8238 and 34-47986]; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Quarterly Report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this Quarterly Report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant's internal control over financial
reporting; and 

5. The Registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors: 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 20, 2004  /s/  BRADLEY T. MILLER      

Bradley T. Miller
Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer (Co-Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Sonus Networks, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended June 30, 2004 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Hassan M. Ahmed, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
of Directors of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 20, 2004  /s/  HASSAN M. AHMED      

Hassan M. Ahmed
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors (Principal
Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Sonus Networks, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended June 30, 2004 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Albert A. Notini, President and Chief Operating Officer of the
Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 20, 2004  /s/  ALBERT A. NOTINI      

Albert A. Notini
President and Chief Operating Officer (Co-Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.3

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

        In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Sonus Networks, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended June 30, 2004 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned, Bradley T. Miller, Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller and
Chief Accounting Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 20, 2004  /s/  BRADLEY T. MILLER      

Bradley T. Miller
Vice President of Finance, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting
Officer (Co-Principal Financial Officer)
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